
CITY OF PHOENIX 
SPECIAL MEETING OF THE 

CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Pursuant to Arizona Revised Statutes, A.R.S. Section 38-431.02, notice is hereby given to 
the members of the CITY OF PHOENIX CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
and to the general public, that the CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION (CTC) 
will hold a meeting open to the public on Oct. 1, 2019, at 5:00 p.m. located in the 
Public Transit Building, MAG Saguaro Conference Room, 2nd Floor, 302 N. First 
Avenue, Phoenix, Arizona. 

One or more commission members may participate via teleconference, and agenda items 
may be taken out of order. The agenda for the meeting is as follows: 

1. Call to Order Chairperson 
Mellor 

2. Chair Announcements Chairperson 
Mellor 

3. Approval or Correction of the Minutes from the 
May 16, 2019 Meeting 
This item is for discussion and action. 

Commission 
members 

4. October CTC Meeting Date 
This item is for discussion and action. 

Commission 
members 

5. Funding Agreement with Valley Metro for Design and Construction 
Services for South Central Extension/Downtown Hub (SCE/DTHUB) 
This report provides an update on and requests an approval 
recommendation of the agreement with Valley Metro regarding funding, 
design and construction for the SCE/DTHUB project. 
This item is for discussion and action. 

Public Transit 

6. Funding Agreement with Valley Metro for Design and Construction 
Services for Northwest Extension Phase II (NWEII)  
This report provides an update on and requests an approval 
recommendation of the agreement with Valley Metro regarding funding, 
design and construction for the NWEII project. 
This item is for discussion and action. 

Public Transit 

7. Acquisition of Property for South Central Extension and Northwest 
Phase II Light Rail Extension Projects  
This report provides an overview and requests an approval 
recommendation of the acquisition of property for the South Central 
Extension and Northwest Phase Light Rail Extension projects.  
This item is for discussion and action. 

Public Transit 



8. Jaywalking Enforcement Data 
Phoenix Police data of jaywalking enforcement over the last five years. 
This item is for information and discussion. 

Phoenix Police 

9. T2050 Annual Report 
This report provides the Citizens Transportation Commission (CTC) with 
the FY 2019 Transportation 2050 (T2050) annual progress report. 
This item is for information only. 

Public Transit  
and Street 
Transportation 
Departments 

10.  Updates from Public Transit and  
Street Transportation Departments 
This item is scheduled to allow staff to provide brief informational reports 
on topics of interest to the Commission.  
This item is for information only. 

Public Transit  
and Street 
Transportation 
Departments 

11.  San Antonio Vision Zero Program Information 
Requested information about San Antonio’s Vision Zero program. 
This item is for information only. 

Street 
Transportation 
Department 

12.  T2050 Financial Update 
This report shows the current fiscal year sales tax revenues collected, 
life-to-date sales tax revenues collected, and the current year program 
expenditures. 
This item is for information only. 

Report Only 
No Presentation 

13.  Upcoming T2050 Related Public Meetings/Events 
This report provides a list of upcoming T2050 related public 
meetings/events held by Public Transit and Street Transportation 
Departments, and Valley Metro. 
This item is for information only. 

Report Only 
No Presentation 

14.  Call to the Public 
Consideration, discussion, and concerns from the public. Those wishing 
to address the Commission need not request permission in advance. 
Action taken as a result of the public comment will be limited to directing 
staff to study the matter or rescheduling the matter for further 
consideration and decision at a later date. 

Chairperson 
Mellor 

15.  Request for Future Agenda Items 
Commission member request for information, follow-up or future agenda 
items.  
This item is for information only. 

Commission 
members 



16.  Adjournment Chairperson 
Mellor 

For further information, please call Lars Jacoby, Management Assistant II, 602-534-6192. 

Persons paid to lobby on behalf of persons or organizations other than themselves 
shall register with the City Clerk prior to lobbying or within five business days 
thereafter, and must register annually to continue lobbying. If you have any 
questions about registration or whether or not you must register, please contact the 
City Clerk’s Office at 602-262-6811. 

To request reasonable accommodations, call Lars Jacoby at Voice/602-534-6192 or 
TTY/7-1-1 as early as possible to coordinate needed arrangements. 



 DRAFT
CITY OF PHOENIX 

CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION MEETING 
SUMMARY MINUTES 

May 16, 2019 
Public Transit Building 
302 N. First Avenue 

Maricopa Association of Governments, Saguaro Conference Room, 2nd Floor 
Phoenix, Arizona 

Commissioners Present Public Present City Staff Present 
Sue Glawe Kelly Cairo Mario Paniagua 
Gail Knight (phone) Maria Hyatt Kini Knudson 
Gabe Loyola Jesús Sapien 
David Martin Markus Coleman 
Jennifer Mellor – Chairperson Jo Ellen McBride 
Roy Miller Lars Jacoby 
Rick Naimark – Vice-Chairperson Ted Mariscal 
Alex Navidad Joe Bowar 
Phil Pangrazio (phone) Albert Crespo 
Dave Siebert Ken Kessler 
William “Sparky” Smith (arrived at 
6:15 pm) 

Laurie Smith 

Quinn Tempest (arrived at 5:09 pm) Briiana Velez 
Chris Ewell 

Absent Mark Melnychenko 
David Adame Sasha Perez 
David Moody Chris Manno 

Mailen Pankiewicz 
Leticia Vargas 
Herb Muñoz 
Brenda Yanez 
Kelly Murray 
Mario Brown 
Eric Froberg 

1. Call to Order
Chairperson Mellor called the meeting to order at 5:01 p.m. with a quorum
present.

2. Chair Announcements
None to report.

3. Approval or correction of the minutes from the April 25, 2019 meeting
A motion was made by Commissioner Miller to approve the April 25, 2019
minutes. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Siebert.

The motion carried by the following vote:



 DRAFT 

 

 

 

Yes: 10 – Commissioner Glawe, Commissioner Knight, Commissioner Loyola, 
Commissioner Martin, Chairperson Mellor, Commissioner Miller, Vice-
Chairperson Naimark, Commissioner Navidad, Commissioner Pangrazio, 
Commissioner Siebert 

No: 0  

4. Election of CTC Chair 
Commissioner Glawe nominated Jennifer Mellor to continue as Chairperson.  

The motion carried by the following vote: 

Yes: 10 – Commissioner Glawe, Commissioner Knight, Commissioner Loyola, 
Commissioner Martin, Chairperson Mellor, Commissioner Miller, Vice-
Chairperson Naimark, Commissioner Navidad, Commissioner Pangrazio, 
Commissioner Siebert 

No: 0  

5. Election of CTC Vice-Chair 
Commissioner Miller nominated Rick Naimark to continue as Vice-Chairperson.  

The motion carried by the following vote: 

Yes: 10 – Commissioner Glawe, Commissioner Knight, Commissioner Loyola, 
Commissioner Martin, Chairperson Mellor, Commissioner Miller, Vice-
Chairperson Naimark, Commissioner Navidad, Commissioner Pangrazio, 
Commissioner Siebert 

No: 0  

6. Bicycle Facility Consideration and FY2019 New Bike Lanes 
Leticia Vargas, Street Transportation Department Special Projects Administrator, 
provided a presentation detailing the considerations used by staff when 
determining if a bicycle lane is warranted. Ms. Vargas also provided information 
as to what types of bike lanes the city uses, and what types of evaluation criteria 
are used when considering if a bike lane should be protected. 

Following the presentation, Commissioner Tempest reiterated her request for an 
update on Osborn Road and asked how many of the 2019 planned bike lanes 
have been completed to date and how many are protected lanes. Ms. Vargas 
stated 16 bike lane projects have been completed so far, and three of this year’s 
projects are protected lanes: Piedmont Road, 51st Avenue, and Earll Drive. 

Commissioner Glawe asked about the traffic rules related to e-scooters. Streets 
Director Kini Knudson explained that the rules have yet to be finalized by City 
Council. 



 DRAFT 

 

Commissioner Miller requested actual bike usage data be used in the evaluation 
of bike lanes, adding that it is important to use bike traffic data in ongoing bike 
lane analysis.  

Mr. Knudson said MAG ridership has been used in the past, but the department 
has ongoing bike counts that will be used in future assessments.  

Commissioner Miller also asked about bike lanes on arterials in general, and 
Indian School Road specifically, as well as costs associated with the installation 
of each type of bike lane. 

Ms. Vargas provided that generally the city doesn’t remove bike lanes, rather the 
city continues to add to the network, as well as provided estimates for each type 
of bike lane. 

Commissioner Pangrazio left the meeting at 5:25 pm. Quorum still present. 

Commissioner Miller said that he did not agree with that position, and that 
removal of bike lanes should be evaluated on arterial streets that experience high 
volumes of traffic and congestion. He later added that the city’s bike plan of 
providing improved connectivity to transit is outmoded and the future of 
transportation is autonomous vehicles, and good traffic flow for vehicles should 
be a priority.  

Commissioner Navidad asked for more details about resident-driven requests, 
how those requests can be made, and the outreach conducted by the city to 
solicit such requests. 

Mr. Knudson provided information on how best to call in requests, as well as the 
plan by the department to have a more focused outreach effort in low-income 
neighborhoods. 

Commissioner Naimark asked that at a future meeting staff provide, if available, 
national data on the difference between protected and unprotected bike lanes. 
He added that bike volume data should not be the determining factor to justify if a 
bike lane is warranted, rather providing a safer place for bicyclists who also use 
the road. 

7. Oak Street Improvement Project Update 
Chris Manno, Street Transportation Department Civil Engineer, provided the 
Commission an update on the Oak Street Improvement project. Mr. Manno 
explained the area the project covers, Oak Street from 3rd Street to State Route 
51 and north to the Grand Canalscape, as well as the details of previous and 
upcoming public engagement activities, and planned design features. 

Following the presentation, Chairperson Mellor asked about the on-street parking 
detailed in the project. Mr. Manno said the project would not add any new on-
street parking, but rather the work is to maintain areas where on-street parking 
currently exists. 



 DRAFT 

 

Commissioner Tempest followed up on that topic by asking if the on-street 
parking could be used as protection for the bike lanes in the project. Mr. Knudson 
said staff could investigate the feasibility of doing so. 

Commissioner Loyola asked about the differences of street widths depicted in the 
presentation, to which Mr. Manno answered that because the entire corridor 
varies, the slide depicts a typical representation of what can be expected.  

Vice-Chair Naimark echoed Commissioner Tempest’s sentiment of using on-
street parking as bike lane protection and asked that future presentations convey 
protected and non-protected lanes.  

8. Vision Zero Overview 
Mailen Pankiewicz, Pedestrian Safety Coordinator, presented an overview of the 
Vision Zero program, as well as how Phoenix is addressing pedestrian safety. 

Commissioner Martin left the meeting at 6:32 pm. Quorum still present. 

Following the presentation, Mr. Knudson added that the Council recently 
approved $2 million be used in next fiscal year’s budget to address pedestrian 
safety projects specifically.  

Multiple commissioners commented on the issue of frequent jaywalking on city 
streets, to which both Ms. Pankiewicz and Mr. Knudson provided that the 
pedestrian safety program is new, and staff will evaluate various methods of 
education and enforcement to address the issue citywide. 

Commissioner Navidad left the meeting at 6:43 pm. Quorum still present. 

Commissioner Miller asked staff to provide data from the last five years on 
jaywalking enforcement by Phoenix Police. 

9. Tentative Schedule for Capitol I-10 West Phase II Evaluation 

Markus Coleman, Light Rail Administrator, provided an update on a recent 
Council request directing staff to evaluate the possible acceleration of the Capitol 
I-10 West Phase II Extension. The commission was provided with a proposed 
community engagement schedule by Phoenix and Valley Metro. 

Commissioner Smith asked what would happen if Proposition 105 (Building a 
Better Phoenix) passes in the August election. Mr. Coleman answered that staff 
would do a closeout of all projects that are still in the planning phase. 

10. Updates from Public Transit and Street Transportation Departments 
Jesús Sapien, Public Transit Director, provided the commission with an update 
on the department’s current request for proposals process related to the regional 
fare collection system upgrade. 



 DRAFT 

 

Mr. Knudson provided an update on the department’s search to fill four new right-
of-way specialist positions, who would work in the field to investigate various 
street-related concerns proactively.  

11. T2050 Financial Update 
Report provided to Commission members. 

12. Upcoming T2050 Related Public Meetings/Events 
Report provided to Commission members. 

13. Call to the Public 
None.  

14. Request for Future Agenda Items 
Commissioner Miller reiterated his request for jaywalking enforcement data over 
the last five years.  

Commissioner Smith requested an update on how San Antonio operates its 
Vision Zero program. 

Vice-Chair Naimark requested that staff keep Chair Mellor informed of any issues 
that may arise due to Council direction, so it can be determined if a meeting 
would be warranted during the Commission’s scheduled break. 

15. Adjournment 
Chairperson Mellor adjourned the meeting at 7:28 p.m. 



 
CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION REPORT 

TO: Mario Paniagua 
Deputy City Manager 

  

FROM: Markus Coleman 
Light Rail Administrator 

    

SUBJECT: SOUTH CENTRAL EXTENSION/DOWNTOWN HUB PROJECT FUNDING 
AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 

  
This report provides information and requests the Citizens Transportation Commission 
recommend approval to the Transportation, Infrastructure, and Innovation 
Subcommittee of an amendment to the current funding agreement for the South Central 
Extension/Downtown Hub project with Valley Metro Rail (VMR) for an additional amount 
not-to-exceed $159 million to fund continued progress toward completion of project 
design, construction services, and associated activities.  
 
THE ISSUE 
The South Central Extension/Downtown Hub is a 5.5-mile light rail project extending 
south from Jefferson Street to Baseline Road along Central Avenue and includes the 
creation of a rail transfer hub in downtown Phoenix (see attachment A). The project will 
include nine new light rail stations and two park-and-rides – one located at the existing 
Ed Pastor Transit Center at Central Avenue and Broadway Road, and an end-of-line 
facility at the northwest corner of Central Avenue and Broadway (see Attachment B).  
 
In May of 2014, the VMR Board of Directors approved Light Rail Transit (LRT) on 
Central Avenue as the preferred transit mode and alignment for the South Central 
Corridor. Subsequently, in September 2014, the City of Phoenix was awarded a 
Transportation Investment Generating Economic Recovery (TIGER) Grant from the 
United States Department of Transportation (USDOT) to conduct an environmental 
assessment and preliminary engineering for the project. In December 2015, Valley 
Metro Rail entered into an agreement with the City of Phoenix to fund activities 
associated with this effort. The agreement totaled $3.2 million, with $1.6 million each 
derived from the USDOT TIGER grant and the City of Phoenix. Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) officially approved inclusion of the South Central Light Rail 
Extension project into the Project Development phase in November 2015 under the 
Capital investment Grant (CIG) New Starts program. 
 
In January 2016 following voter approval of Proposition 104, City Council took action to 
accelerate the project completion and approved an amendment to the original funding 
agreement in January 2016 for an additional $1.5 million to complete several 
grant/project readiness items required by FTA to demonstrate the project’s technical, 
financial, and legal readiness for construction.  
 
On January 6, 2017 FTA granted the project environmental clearance with a Finding of 
No Significant Impact (FONSI) ruling which allows for activities in the agreement to be 
eligible for FTA reimbursement.  



 
In February of 2017, City Council approved an amendment to the funding agreement in 
the amount of $50 million to provide initial funding for the capital project. This funding 
has been utilized by VMR to begin professional design and construction services for the 
South Central Extension/Downtown Hub project.  
 
On April 15, 2019 FTA granted the project approval to enter the engineering phase of 
the CIG New Starts program. An FTA grant is anticipated for the South Central 
Extension/Downtown Hub in late 2020, with anticipated annual grant funding allocations 
for the project over multiple years. In the meantime, to keep the project on schedule, the 
FTA has provided pre-award authority for design, land acquisition, utility relocations, 
long-lead procurement items (such as light rail vehicles and special track work) and 
construction activities. This pre-award authority allows VMR to utilize Phoenix and VMR 
funds to advance the project. The FTA will then reimburse its funding share after the 
federal grant is approved, on an annual basis.  
 
The estimated additional funding needed at this point by VMR to advance the 
professional design, construction services, and associated activities is $159 million. This 
also includes final design services such as preparation of legal descriptions of right-of-
way, permits, insurance, and other legal documentation as required; archaeology data 
testing and recovery; plan reviews by third parties; community relations support through 
design; business assistance; and other surveys, testing, and inspections. 
 
NEXT STEPS 
Upon receiving Council authorization, the City of Phoenix will amend the South Central 
Extension/Downtown Hub agreement with Valley Metro to provide an additional $159 
million to advance the project. Additionally, because the schedule for the disbursement 
of federal funding is based on a reimbursement process and is expected to exceed the 
project construction schedule, a future amendment to the agreement will be required to 
advance the necessary additional funding to Valley Metro for project completion. The 
future amendment will be requested after the City receives authorization for financing 
needed to cover costs that will be later reimbursed through federal Capital Investment 
Grant funds. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests the Citizens Transportation Commission recommend approval to the 
Transportation, Infrastructure and Innovation Subcommittee of an amendment to the 
current funding agreement with Valley Metro Rail for an additional amount not-to-
exceed $159 million for the South Central Extension/Downtown Hub Project to fund 
continued progress toward final design and construction activities.  
 
 



Attachment A 
South Central Extension/Downtown Hub  

 
 

 



Attachment B 
South Central Extension/Downtown Hub 

End of Line Park and Ride 



South Central/Downtown Hub Funding, 
Design and Construction Agreement

Citizens Transportation Commission
September 26, 2019



High-Capacity Transit System



Project Route

•5.5-mile corridor
•9 passenger stations
•2 park-and-rides
•5 Traction Power 
Substations

•2 signal buildings



Project Terminus



Background

• November 2015 FTA approves entry into Phase I of New 

Starts Grant Program

• January 2017 FTA approves Environmental Assessment  

• April 2019 FTA approves entry into Phase II of New Starts 

Grant Program 



Project Schedule



• Agreement defines Phoenix and Valley Metro responsibilities 
to mange project

• Phoenix funding needed for:
• Professional design and construction services
• Real estate and construction costs included in future action

Purpose



Recommendation

• Staff requests the Citizens Transportation Commission 
recommend approval to the Transportation, Infrastructure and 
Innovation Subcommittee of an amendment to the current 
funding agreement with Valley Metro Rail for an additional 
amount not-to-exceed $159 million for the South Central 
Extension/Downtown Hub Project to fund continued progress 
toward final design and construction activities. 



CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION REPORT 

TO: Mario Paniagua 
Deputy City Manager 

FROM: Markus Coleman 
Light Rail Administrator 

SUBJECT: NORTHWEST EXTENSION PHASE II FUNDING, DESIGN AND 
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 

This report provides information and requests the Citizens Transportation Commission 
recommend approval to the Transportation, Infrastructure, and Innovation 
Subcommittee of an amendment to the current funding agreement with Valley Metro 
Rail (VMR) for an additional amount not-to-exceed $79.4 million for the Northwest 
Extension Phase II Project to fund continued progress toward the completion of project 
design, construction services, and associated actives. 

THE ISSUE 
The Northwest Light Rail Extension Phase II is a 1.6-mile light rail project extending 
west on Dunlap Avenue from 19th Avenue to 25th Avenue, then northward to Mountain 
View Road, then to a terminus west of Interstate 17 adjacent to the Metrocenter Mall 
(see Attachment A). The project will include an elevated structure over Interstate 17 and 
will terminate just west of the freeway. The project will include three new stations, 
shared parking location at Rose Mofford Park, and an end-of-line park-and-ride that 
includes a relocated and expanded Metrocenter Transit Center (see Attachment B).  

In January 2016, the Phoenix City Council approved accelerating segments of the future 
high capacity/light rail transit system, including the Northwest Extension Phase II. In 
June 2017, the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) approved VMR’s request to enter 
Project Development phase under the New Starts Capital Investment Grant (CIG) 
program. The initial Environmental Assessment (EA) and preliminary engineering have 
been completed and a submittal to enter the engineering phase of the CIG program was 
made to the FTA in July 2019. A re-evaluation of the EA and final design are currently 
underway and are expected to be completed by fall of 2020. 

Valley Metro awarded a contract for pre-construction services on the Northwest 
Extension Phase II to Kiewit-McCarthy Joint Venture in September 2017. A systems 
design contract to support this project was awarded to PGH Wong Engineering in 
September 2017. Valley Metro also awarded seven public art services contracts in 
November 2017.  

In April of 2018, City Council approved a funding agreement with Valley Metro Rail in 
the amount of $25 million to begin professional design and pre-construction services for 
the Northwest Extension Phase II.  

The estimated additional funding needed by VMR for Phoenix’s share of the costs to 
complete the professional design, construction services, and associated activities is 
$79.4 million. This also includes final design services preparation of legal descriptions of 
right-of-way, permits, insurance, and other legal documentation as required; 
archaeology data testing and recovery; plan reviews by third parties; community 



relations support through design; business assistance; and other surveys, testing, and 
inspections.  
 
NEXT STEPS 
Upon receiving Council authorization, the City of Phoenix will amend the Northwest 
Extension Phase II agreement with Valley Metro to provide an additional $79.4 million to 
advance the project. Additionally, because the schedule for the disbursement of federal 
funding is based on a reimbursement process and is expected to exceed the project 
construction schedule, a future amendment to the agreement will be required to 
advance the necessary additional funding to Valley Metro for project completion. The 
future amendment will be requested after the City receives authorization for financing 
needed to cover costs that will be later reimbursed through federal Capital Investment 
Grant funds. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests the Citizens Transportation Commission recommend approval to the 
Transportation, Infrastructure and Innovation Subcommittee of an amendment to the 
current funding agreement with Valley Metro for an amount not-to-exceed $79.4 million 
for the Northwest Extension Phase II Project to fund continued progress toward final 
design and construction activities.   
 
 



Attachment A 
Northwest Extension Phase II  

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Attachment B 

Northwest Extension End of Line Station/Transit Center 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Northwest Phase II Funding, Design 
and Construction Agreement

Citizens Transportation Commission
September 26, 2019



High-Capacity Transit System



• 1.5-mile corridor
• 3 passenger stations
• 1 park-and-ride facility
• 2 TPSS and 1 Signal Building
• Metrocenter Bus Transit Center 

Project Route



Project Terminus



Background

• June 2017 – FTA approves entry into the planning phase of New Starts Grant 
Program

• January 2019 – FTA approves Environmental Assessment
• July 2019 – Submitted for FTA approval Entry into the Engineering Phase of 

New Starts Grant Program



Project Schedule



• Agreement defines Phoenix and Valley Metro responsibilities 
to mange project

• Phoenix funding needed for:
• Professional design and construction services
• Real estate and construction costs included in future action

Purpose



Recommendation

• Requests that the Citizens Transportation Commission 
recommend approval to the Transportation, Infrastructure, and 
Innovation Subcommittee an amendment to the current funding 
agreement with Valley Metro Rail for an additional amount not-
to-exceed $79.4 million for the Northwest Extension Phase II 
Project.



 
CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION REPORT 

TO: Mario Paniagua   

FROM: Markus Coleman 
Light Rail Administrator 

Jami Spear 
Real Estate Administrator 

    

SUBJECT: 
ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY FOR SOUTH 
CENTRAL EXTENSION / DOWNTOWN HUB 
AND NORTHWEST EXTENSION PHASE II 
LIGHT RAIL PROJECTS 

    

  
This report provides information and requests the Citizens Transportation Commission 
recommend approval to the Transportation, Infrastructure and Innovation Subcommittee 
for the acquisition of real property for the South Central Extension/Downtown Hub 
(SCE/DH) and Northwest Phase II (NWEII) Light Rail Extension Projects (‘Projects’). 
The estimates for real estate acquisition, including right-of-way, land, and restoration of 
existing or new improvements, is included in each project’s budget. The estimated 
acquisition costs are approximately $66 million for the South Central 
Extension/Downtown Hub and approximately $30 million for the Northwest Phase II 
Light Rail Extension. 
 
THE ISSUE 
 
As with previous light rail projects, the City requires additional land to accommodate 
project construction of public improvements including rail, stations, curbing, gutter, 
sidewalks, landscape and other infrastructure for light rail extensions. The Phoenix City 
Charter requires submission of all real property acquisitions to the City Council for 
approval by ordinance. The City acquires property through either: (1) donation, (2) 
purchase within the City's appraised value, (3) purchase at an amount settled by 
mediation (and determined by the City Manager or designee to be reasonable under the 
circumstances), or (4) eminent domain. The City also provides relocation assistance 
and benefits as federally mandated to those who qualify. 
 
The City’s Real Estate Division has considerable experience in the land acquisition 
process and will acquire all real property necessary for implementation of the Projects 
within project schedules and budget constraints, in strict compliance with all applicable 
laws, regulations, and guidelines for real property acquisition. Particularly, the City’s 
adherence to the federal Uniform Relocation and Real Property Acquisition Act (Uniform 
Act) may affect schedule and budget constraints because of individuals’ property rights. 
The Uniform Act requires that property owners be treated fairly and consistently, and 
without coercion. Property owners are given 30 days to consider an offer, and the 
Uniform Act requires that property owners and any displaced tenants are provided a 
minimum 90-day notice to vacate.  



 
To ensure compliance with the Uniform Act and Federal Transit Administration (FTA) 
Circular 5010.1E (“Award Management Requirements”), the property acquisition 
process takes an average 12 to 18 months to complete for each parcel. The City further 
recognizes that the acquisition process is complex and difficult for many property 
owners and tenants, so it is important to allow a reasonable time to work with those 
impacted while balancing the needs of each project’s schedule. The City will give 
utmost consideration to the needs of property owners and tenants directly impacted by 
the Projects. The City makes every effort to negotiate or mediate a settlement before 
initiating a condemnation filing. Based on the number of acquisitions for the Projects 
combined with the construction schedule, the property acquisition process should 
commence soon. 
 
SOUTH CENTRAL EXTENSION/DOWNTOWN HUB 
 
Table 1 provides a summary of land needed for the SCE/DH project. Acquisition is 
currently scheduled from October 2019 through October 2021 based on Valley Metro’s 
project schedule. While preliminary acquisition activities have begun (such as title work 
and planning), an ordinance authorizing acquisition, FTA approval of the environmental 
evaluation, and final legal descriptions are required before Real Estate staff and 
consultants begin engaging with property owners. 
 

Table 1: South Central Light Rail Extension Acquisition Summary 
 
The total land necessary for acquisition on the SCE/DH Project is less than 2% of the 
total square footage of the land impacted. An additional 2.8% of the impacted land is 
required for temporary construction easements (TCEs). Temporary construction 
easements are needed facilitate construction, with the land reverting to the property 
owner upon completion of construction. 

 

LAND 
IMPACTED 

# 
APN's 

Whole 
Parcel  
(SF) 

Land  
to be 

acquired  
(SF) 

%  
Land  
to be 

acquired 

Temporary 
Construction 

Easement 
(TCE) 

%  
TCE 

Total 414 
   
20,915,699  344,547 1.6% 415,753 2.0% 

 
Based on the current design, staff estimates 414 Maricopa County Assessor Parcel 
Numbers (APNs) will be impacted by the SCE/DH Project. For purposes of acquisition, 
parcels are combined based on contiguity, ownership, and use. After combining APNs, 
staff estimates that there will be a total of 250 acquisitions from private property owners 
for the SCE/DH. The City also evaluates impacts using federal criteria to determine the 
complexity of the acquisition, which is then classified as either “simplistic” or “moderate 
to complex.” “Simplistic” generally involves acquisition of narrow land strips of land or 
TCEs alone. “Moderate to complex” typically includes the acquisition of whole parcels or 
partial acquisitions that impact real property improvements such as walls, signs, parking 
lots improvements, and/or buildings. 
 



Below is a summary of the types of acquisition and impact. 

TYPES OF 
ACQUISITION # % TYPES OF 

IMPACTS # % 

Full 7 3% Simplistic 106 42% 
Partial 191 76% Moderate to Complex 144 58% 
TCE only 52 21% 
Total 250 100% 

NORTHWEST PHASE II LIGHT RAIL EXTENSION 

Table 2 provides a summary of land needed for the NWEII project. Acquisition is 
currently scheduled from October 2019 through October 2021 based on Valley Metro’s 
project schedule. While preliminary acquisition activities have begun (such as title work 
and planning), an ordinance authorizing acquisition and final legal descriptions are 
required before Real Estate staff and consultants begin engaging with property owners. 

Table 2: Northwest Phase II Light Rail Extension Acquisition Summary 

The total land necessary for acquisition on the NWEII Project is less than 3% of the total 
square footage of the land impacted. An additional 0.4% of the impacted land is 
required for temporary construction easements (TCEs).  

LAND 
IMPACTED 

# 
APN's 

Whole 
Parcel 
(SF) 

Land to 
be 

acquired 
(SF) 

% 
Land 
to be 

acquired 

Temporary 
Construction 

Easement 
(TCE) 

% 
TCE 

Total 28 12,171,622 339,704 2.8% 28,189 0.2% 

Based on the current design, staff estimates 33 APNs will be impacted by the NWEII 
Project. For purposes of acquisition, parcels are combined based on contiguity, 
ownership, and use to determine the number of acquisitions. After combining APN’s, 
staff estimates that there will be a total of 29 acquisitions from private property owners 
for the NWEII. The City also evaluates impacts using federal criteria to determine the 
complexity of the acquisition, which is then classified as either “simplistic” or “moderate 
to complex.” “Simplistic” generally involves acquisitions of narrow land strips or TCEs 
alone. “Moderate to complex” typically includes acquisitions of whole parcels or partial 
acquisitions that impact real property improvements such as walls, signs, parking lots 
improvements, and/or buildings.  

Below is a summary of the types of acquisition and impact. 

TYPES OF 
ACQUISITION # % TYPES OF 

IMPACTS # % 

Full 1 3% Simplistic 3 10% 
Partial 28 97% Moderate to Complex 26 90% 



TCE only 0 0%     
Total 29 100%     

 
EXCLUSIONS 
 
The summaries above do not include acquisition for third-party utilities, as those needs 
continue to be determined as each project’s design progresses and staff works with 
utility companies to make such determinations. It is not uncommon for the number of 
parcels and impacts to change slightly during final design and construction. Valley 
Metro will work with the City to update any changes during the acquisition process to 
acquire only what is needed for each Project. The budget for acquisition is a preliminary 
estimate. The City will update the budget periodically throughout the Projects as costs 
are incurred. A condensed project schedule may cause costs to increase. 
 
NEXT STEPS 
 
In the same manner as has been done with previous light rail projects, the City’s 
Finance Department will seek Formal Council action for authority to acquire all real 
property and related property interests. Upon receiving Council approval, FTA 
approval of the environmental evaluation, and finalizing legal descriptions, the City’s 
Real Estate Division will begin the acquisition process, prioritizing parcels based on 
project needs and construction schedules. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff requests that the Citizens Transportation Commission recommend the 
Transportation, Infrastructure, and Innovation Subcommittee approve acquisition of real 
property for the South Central Extension/Downtown Hub and Northwest Phase II Light 
Rail Extension Projects. 
  



Figure 1 – Right-of-Way Impacts SCE/DH North 
 

 
 
 
 
Figure 2 – Right-of-Way Impacts SCE/DH South 
 

 
 
  



Figure 3 – Right-of-Way Impacts NWEII 
 

 



South Central/Downtown Hub 
and Northwest Phase II 

Acquisition of Real Property

Citizens Transportation Commission
September 26, 2019



ACQUISITION OF REAL PROPERTY 
SOUTH CENTRAL EXTENSION / DOWNTOWN HUB 

AND NORTHWEST PHASE II LIGHT RAIL EXTENSION

Phoenix City Charter requires submission of all real 
property acquisitions to the City Council for approval by 
ordinance

Acquisition to be completed in compliance with Uniform 
Act and FTA Circular 5010.E

Acquisition schedule may take up to 18-months



UNIFORM RELOCATION ASSISTANCE and 
REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITION POLICIES ACT OF 1970 

as amended (Uniform Act)

Citizen land rights are protected by the Fifth Amendment of 
the U.S. Constitution, which states, “nor shall private 
property be taken for public use, without just compensation.”

The purpose of the Uniform Act is to establish a policy for the 
fair and equitable treatment of persons displaced as result of 
a federal or federally-assisted programs.



UNIFORM RELOCATION ASSISTANCE and 
REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITION POLICIES ACT OF 1970 

as amended (Uniform Act)

The Agency shall offer to acquire uneconomic remnants.

Requires an approved appraisal prior to negotiations.

No coercion is allowed in the negotiation process.

Payment must be made before taking possession.

Must provide appropriate financial assistance to all displaced 
parties.

A minimum of 90-days notice to vacate must be provided to all 
displacees.



TYPES OF ACQUISITION

Simplistic
Temporary Construction Easement (TCE) only
Narrow strips of land with little or no site 

improvements

Moderate to Complex
Whole parcel acquisition
Partial acquisition large in size
Partial acquisition impacting walls, signs, parking 

lot improvements and/or buildings



EXAMPLE OF A “SIMPLE” ACQUISITION



EXAMPLE OF A “MODERATE” ACQUISITION



EXAMPLE OF A “COMPLEX” ACQUISITION



Schedule A) Start: 
Oct. 2019 – March 2020

Complete - Simplistic: 
June 2020 – March 2021

Complete - Moderate to Complex: 
Oct. 2020 – Sept. 2021

Schedule B) Start:
Feb. 2020 – May 2020

Complete - Simplistic: 
Oct. 2020 – May 2021

Complete - Moderate to Complex:
Feb. 2021 – Nov. 2021

FORECASTED SCHEDULE

A) Assumes all requirements are met to begin acquisition Oct. 2019
B) Assumes FTA review of environmental re-evaluation completed as scheduled for South 

Central

*Assumes final legal descriptions are transmitted over 3-month period
*Assumes backlog is not created by high volume of work in relatively short period of time
*Assumes no delays in federal review of items exceeding threshold limits



REAL ESTATE - CURRENT ACTIVITIES

General
 Outreach to consultants to understand capacity and plan workload
 Determine staffing needs and assignments
 Identify requirements for affected City-owned property 
 Reconcile list of parcels to be acquired with plans
 Review for accuracy and update LRT Parcel Numbers, APN’s and addresses
 Identify parcel priority list upon receipt from Valley Metro

Appraisal
 Finalize comparable sales data book
 Review market data to update cost estimate, if needed
 Categorize parcels by property type, size, and impacts
 Select Appraisers based on qualifications, type of acquisition, timing, and 

capacity
 Draft scope of work for each appraisal assignment



Enviro
Re-evaluation:

FTA
est. on or before 

Feb. 2020

Formal Council 
Action to Acquire:

COP Real Estate 
est. Oct. 16, 2019

Final Legal 
Descriptions: 
Valley Metro 
pending: TBD

Real Estate
1) verify ownership
2) meet with owner

3) obtain information 
about property and 

occupants

NEXT STEPS TO INITIATE 
THE ACQUISITION PROCESS



Recommendation

• Staff requests that the Citizens Transportation Commission 
recommend the Transportation, Infrastructure, and Innovation 
Subcommittee approve acquisition of real property for the South 
Central Extension/Downtown Hub and Northwest Phase II Light Rail 
Extension Projects.



This report provides summary data to the Citizens Transportation Commission 
regarding jaywalking citations issued by the Phoenix Police Department.   

THE ISSUE 
At the Commission’s meeting this past May, Street Transportation Department staff 
presented information on the Vision Zero program under previous consideration by the 
City Council. Additionally, staff updated the commission on the City’s Pedestrian Safety 
program and introduced its new Pedestrian Safety coordinator. 

Per a request from Commissioner Miller during that presentation, data was compiled by 
the Phoenix Police Department Crime Analysis and Research Unit and reflects the total 
count of charges since 2014, and not the number of citations issued (Attachment A). 

RECOMMENDATION 
This item is for information only. 

CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION REPORT 

TO: Members of the Commission 

Kini Knudson, P.E.
FROM: 

Street Transportation Director 

SUBJECT: Jaywalking Enforcement Data 



CITY OF PHOENIX POLICE DEPARTMENT
Citations issued according to Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS). 
Criteria based on specific charges limited to select statutes issued to pedestrians.
Jan. 1, 2014 ‐ July 31, 2019

ARS Description 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019  ytd Total
28‐645A2B PEDESTRIAN CROSSING AGAINST YELLOW 0 0 0 0 1 0 1
28‐645A3D PEDESTRIAN CROSSING AGAINST RED LIGHT 37 27 27 16 25 6 138
28‐646A2 PED CROSSING AGAINST DON`T WALK SIGNAL 92 41 27 30 44 21 255
28‐792 PED PEDESTRIAN WALK/RUN INTO PATH OF VEHICLE 43 33 26 27 36 13 178
28‐793A PEDESTRIAN FAIL TO YIELD TO TRAFFIC 36 36 41 47 53 18 231
28‐793B PEDESTRIAN FAIL TO USE TUNNEL/OVERHEAD CROSSING 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
28‐793C PEDESTRIAN TO YIELD TO WHERE NO CROSSWALK 65 36 20 28 74 27 250
28‐795 PED FAIL TO USE RIGHT SIDE OF CRSSWALK 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
28‐796 WALKING IN STREET WHERE SIDEWALK PROVIDED 10 2 3 4 9 6 34
28‐796A WALKING IN STREET W/SIDEWALK PROVIDED 59 24 17 10 22 10 142
28‐796B FAIL TO WALK FACING TRAF W/NO SIDEWALK 7 1 4 1 5 1 19
28‐796C PERSON STANDING IN ROADWAY TO SOLICIT RIDE 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
Total 352 201 165 163 269 102 1,252

The total reflects the  count of charges, not the  number of citations.  

ATTACHMENT A



 

 
This report provides information n the Transportation 2050 (T2050) annual progress 
report.  
 
BACKGROUND  
This is the third Phoenix Transportation 2050 Progress Report given to the Citizens 
Transportation Commission. This report covers fiscal year 2019 and includes updated 
information on the program status, financial information, annual and inception-to-
date accomplishments, and status of the major projects within the program. Like the first 
two progress reports, this report covers the various funding sources contributing to the 
T2050 program, the assumptions used in the development of the overall financial plan, 
and the status of the 35-year life-cycle program. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
This item is for information only. 
 

CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION REPORT 

TO: Members of the Commission   

FROM: 

Jesús Sapien 
Public Transit Director 

Kini L.E. Knudson 
Street Transportation Director 

    

SUBJECT: T2050 Annual Report 
 



MOVING PHOENIX 
FORWARD

ANNUAL  
PROGRESS  

REPORT 
FISCAL YEAR 2019

JULY 1, 2018  
THROUGH  

JUNE 30, 2019



2

IN MEMORIAM

Former U.S. Representative Ed Pastor, who passed 
away in 2018, is remembered as a trailblazing public 
servant by becoming the first Latino to serve Arizona in 
the United States Congress. In addition, having served 
23 years in the House of Representatives, his legacy 
lives on through the numerous transportation projects 
he championed and the people he served during his 
lifetime. 

On Capitol Hill, Congressman Pastor was instrumental 
in moving forward the Phoenix region’s initial 20-
mile light rail line. When the light rail project first 
entered the Federal Transit Administration’s project 
pipeline in the late 1990s, Congressman Pastor was 
already working to secure early funding through the 
Appropriation Committee. He was key in having funds 
secured each year, until the city ultimately received a 
Full Funding Grant Agreement in 2005. Because of the 
Congressman’s strong involvement, federal funding was 
able to become a reality in Phoenix. 

Ed Pastor
1943–2018

"After 11 terms in the House, it's hard to choose which achievement I'm most 
proud of. The brick-and-mortar projects were important, but I think what I'm 
most proud of is when my work directly impacted and helped people."

– Ed Pastor, United States  
House of Representatives,  

1991 to 2015



3

In addition, Congressman Pastor worked with the City 
of Phoenix and Maricopa County in supporting three 
key transportation-related ballot measures approved by 
voters, including Phoenix’s Transit 2000 plan in 2000; 
the county-wide Proposition 400 in 2004; and Phoenix’s 
Transportation 2050 plan in 2015. 

Serving as the first Chair of the Citizens Transportation 
Commission, Congressman Pastor led the way to 
implement Phoenix’s Transportation 2050 Plan. For 
three years, he led the 15-member commission, 
representing the community at large to oversee bringing 
planned projects to reality. He was a staunch proponent 
of transparency, which this annual progress report 
embodies. 

Amongst his various accomplishments, Congressman 
Pastor’s list of contributions in transportation projects 
include: 

 y The light rail system through Phoenix, Tempe and 
Mesa, including a federal grant to help create a 
program to spur affordable housing and commercial 
development along the alignment.  

 y High capacity modern streetcar/light rail system to 
link the University of Arizona to downtown Tucson, 
area health establishments and business districts.  

 y New traffic control tower at Phoenix Sky Harbor 
International Airport.  

 y South Mountain Village bus service to improve 
transportation for area residents.  

 y Expanded bus and Dial-a-Ride service as well 
accelerated street improvements via the voter-
approved Transportation 2050 plan.  

 y The 50th Street light rail station which adds a critical 
transportation option for the community and sets the 
new standard for accessibility across the nation.  

He understood compromise and was a humble 
leader who diverted the credit and limelight to others. 
However, having access to jobs, education, and arts and 
culture via public transit were many passions driving 
Congressman Pastor to build a better life for Arizonans. 
He knew the importance of the role public transit 
plays in moving our local economy forward. He led the 
transformation of public transportation in metropolitan 
Phoenix.  



4

“The City of Phoenix’s transit system has improved 
immensely since the passing of the T2050 plan. 
In the last year alone, more than 950 miles of 
roadway have undergone some form of pavement 
maintenance, more than 4,400 ADA ramps have been 
installed, the new 50th Street and Washington Light 
Rail Station is connecting people to employment and 
resources and new buses are in service to keep our 
fleet more reliable for our riders.” 

Councilwoman Thelda Williams  
Chair, Transportation, Infrastructure 
and Innovation Subcommittee

Mayor Kate Gallego

“T2050 is a plan that’s about more than just transit 
investment, it’s about connecting our community. 
Phoenix is one of the largest cities in the country and 
we need a multimodal transit plan that is reflective 
of our status as a global city, as well as the fastest-
growing city in the nation. 2019 has seen more city 
street miles paved than ever before, more bikes 
lanes and wheelchair ramps added, all thanks to the 
forethought of T2050. Robust, inclusive transportation 
options for our entire community are becoming a 
reality with the help of smart, long-range planning.”

“Thanks to Transportation 2050, Phoenix continues 
to benefit from newly paved roads, increased 
transit routes and frequency and continued light 
rail enhancements. The Citizen’s Transportation 
Commission will continue to make sound 
recommendations to ensure that your tax dollars are 
spent wisely to move Phoenix forward.” 

Commissioner Jennifer Mellor 
Chair, Citizens Transportation 
Commission



5

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Annual Progress Report Fiscal Year 2019  
Interactive features may be found throughout the document in orange. 



6



7

PROGRAM OVERVIEW
On Aug. 25, 
2015, Phoenix 
voters voiced 
their support 
for improving 

streets and transit service 
throughout the city with the 
approval of Proposition 104. 
The resulting 0.7 percent sales tax replaced a 0.4 
percent sales tax, effective Jan. 1, 2016.

Revenue from the 35-year initiative funds the Phoenix 
Transportation 2050 (T2050) plan. Approximately 86 
percent of funds are dedicated to public transit and 
approximately 14 percent to streets.

T2050 revenues supplement other sources of 
transportation funding, allowing the dollars to 
accomplish more for transit and streets. This report 
identifies progress through Fiscal Year (FY) 2019 and 
gives a glimpse of improvements planned for the next 
five years.

70¢
(0.7%)

$100

Transportation, Infrastructure and Innovation Subcommittee Members

Councilwoman Thelda 
Williams, Chair

Councilwoman Betty 
Guardado

Councilwoman Laura Pastor Councilwoman Debra Stark



8

Lifecycle Revenues
While the tax revenue is expected to generate a little 
more than half of the T2050 overall funds, the remaining 
funds will be comprised of federal, regional and other 
local funding sources. Figure 1.1 shows funding sources 
as established at the program’s launch. 

In addition to these funds, Public Transit and Street 
Transportation departments staff members pursue 
opportunities to reduce costs through innovation and 
efficient project delivery methods. 

More information on program assumptions can be 
found in the appendix, as well as projected and actual 
sales tax revenue in Table A.1. Additionally, regional 
and federal funding program information is available at 
phoenix.gov/T2050/Funding.

FUNDING

Figure 1.1 Sources of Funds

Total estimated 
revenues for  

35-year program

$31.5B

  

$16.8B
T2050 
Sales 
Tax

$2.9B
State/ 

Regional

$3.9B
Federal

$5.1B
Transit
Fares

$1.7B
 Financing
 (bonds/ 
 loans)

$1.1B
 Other

Figure 1.1 Sources of Funds

PROGRAM AREAS

T2050 FUNDS

FEDERAL FUNDS

REGIONAL FUNDS

TRANSIT FARE REVENUES

FINANCING

$ $ OTHER TRANSIT REVENUES

T2050

http://phoenix.gov/T2050/Funding
https://www.phoenix.gov/publictransit/rider-information/bus-stops-and-passenger-facilities
https://www.phoenix.gov/major-street-improvements
https://www.phoenix.gov/T2050/Elements
https://www.phoenix.gov/t2050/mobility-improvements-program
https://www.phoenix.gov/street-preservation-program
https://www.valleymetro.org/maps-schedules
https://www.phoenix.gov/publictransit/rider-information/transit-services/phoenix-dial-a-ride


9

Lifecycle Expenditures
At times, T2050’s projected revenue will exceed 
projected expenditures for a given year. This deliberate 
strategy helps ensure the plan has available funds 
in future years for large expenses, such as light rail 
projects and park-and-ride facility construction. 
Figure 1.2 shows planned uses of funds as established 
at the program’s launch.

FY 2019 Financial Summary
The total budget for FY 2019 was nearly $517 million. 
Please see Table A.2 in the appendix for budgeted and 
actual revenue and expeditures.

Figure 1.2 Planned Uses of Funds

$2.3B
Debt service 
and reserve$2.3B

Streets, pavement, 
mobility and  
technology

$268M
Transit 

infrastructure

$6.7B
New light 
rail transit

$670M
Bus rapid 

transit $1.9B
New bus  
service in 
unserved 

areas

$878M
Bus frequency 

for a peak period 
and weekend 

service

$1.8B
Expanded bus and 
Dial-a-Ride hours

$14.7B
Existing bus, 
Dial-a-Ride 

and light rail 
transit

 

Total estimated 
costs

$31.5B

$50M

$100M

$150M

$200M

$250M

$300M

FY24FY23FY22FY21FY20FY19FY18FY17FY16

PROJECTED*

ACTUAL

*Projected sales tax revenues reflect the initial T2050 plan.

Figure 1.3 T2050 Sales Tax Revenue Summary

* Projected sales tax revenues reflect the initial T2050 plan.

Financial Projection
The balance of the T2050 funds is anticipated to 
increase through FY 2020, when funds will be used 
for the new light rail and major streets construction 
projects. Projected and actual sales tax revenue, as well 
as short-term projected revenue figures are shown in 
Figure 1.3. Please see Table A.3 in the appendix for the 
FY 2020–2024 five-year financial plan. 



10

Oversight and Public Input
Public outreach is vital to understanding residents’ 
transportation needs. Staff members host open houses 
and meet-and-greet activities, conduct public meetings 
and attend community events to provide information 
and gather input. Outreach activities occur throughout 
the year for the planning and development of new bus 
routes and extensions; high-capacity transit options, 
such as light rail and bus rapid transit; building and 
improving roads; creating bike lanes; and installing ADA 
ramps. 

Other, more formal, opportunities for public involvement 
occur at Phoenix City Council and subcommittee 
meetings and through the Citizens Transportation 
Commission (CTC).

The 50th Street Station opened April 25, 2019 and features enhanced 
pedestrian detection crosswalk signals, wider platforms and gently 
sloped entries. 

Street Transportation Department staff members 
provided information on pedestrian safety at the Star 
Spangled Celebration at Cesar Chavez Park, May 18, 
2019.



11

In 2015, the mayor and Phoenix City Council 
established the 15-member CTC for the T2050 program. 
Commissioners are appointed by the Phoenix City 
Council and represent various facets of the community. 
CTC members, as of June 30, 2019, include Chairwoman 
Jennifer Mellor, Vice Chairman Rick Naimark, David 
Adame, Sue Glawe, Gail Knight, Gabriel Loyola, David 
Martin, Roy Miller, David Moody, Alex Navidad, Phil 
Pangrazio, David Siebert, William Smith and Quinn 
Tempest. The commission addresses street and transit 
needs, provides oversight on the expenditure of funds, 
and makes recommendations on plan elements.

The Phoenix City Council’s Transportation, Infrastructure 
and Innovation subcommittee provides policy guidance 
on issues related to infrastructure, transportation, 
transit, streets, aviation/airport, water, technology, smart 
cities, innovation and sustainability. 

Since 2016, Phoenix has purchased 258 new local buses to 
modernize its fleet. Newer buses mean not only a more enjoyable 
experience for riders, but also utilize the latest low emission 
technology and use at least 50 percent less fuel than the buses 
they replace.

Jennifer Mellor - Chair, 
Citizens Transportation 
Commission



12

B
U

S 
A

N
D

 D
IA

L-
A

-R
ID

E

35 
YEARS

CONTINUE bus, RAPID commuter bus, neighborhood 
circulator and Dial-a-Ride service FOR 35 YEARS

15 MIN PROVIDE 15-MINUTE FREQUENCY on half of all bus routes 

 
RAPID EXTEND & ADD new RAPID service

PURCHASE NEW buses and Dial-a-Ride vehicles

EXTEND bus and Dial-a-Ride service hours  
TO MATCH LIGHT RAIL HOURS

 EXTEND & ADD BUS SERVICE to unserved major streets 

ADD NEW circulator service

BUILD NEW park-and-ride lots

H
IG

H
 C

A
PA

CI
TY

  
TR

A
N

SI
T

CONTINUE 17 MILES of light rail service 

BRT
PROVIDE 75 MILES of new Bus Rapid Transit service (consultant 
teams for program management and preliminary corridor assessments have been 
selected; additional progress is pending review)

NEW ADD 42 MILES of new light rail in Phoenix (planning and design are 
ongoing for some segments; additional progress is pending review) 

50th BUILD NEW light rail station at 50th Street 

ST
RE

ET
S

680 MILES of new overlays on arterial/major streets

 2,000 new street lights
 
$240 MILLION for new roads and upgraded bridges

1,080 MILES of new bike lanes

 135 MILES of new sidewalks

Technology enhancements

Build additional bus bays

 

The voter-approved 
35-year sales tax has 
been in effect for the 
past three-and-a-half 
years (10 percent of the 
duration of the tax). A 
gauge comparing the 
current progress to the 
expected progress is 
provided for each goal. 
Additional information 
about each of these 
goals follows.

  Approaching expected targetBelow expected target At or above expected target

EXPECTED  
PROGRESS AT 3.5 
YEARS (10 PERCENT)

T2050 35-YEAR GOALST2050 35-YEAR GOALS



13



14

BUS AND DIAL-A-RIDE
CUMULATIVE PROGRESS Jan. 1, 2016–June 30, 2019

ORDERED
258 Local Buses

RAPID 37 Rapid Buses

DAR 72 Dial-a-Ride 
Vehicles

INSTALLED
5 Bus Bays

40 Bus Stops

222 Bus Shelter  
Shade  
Structures

IN DESIGN
4 Bus Bays

EXTENDED BUS ROUTES
51 51st Avenue Lower Buckeye Road to Baseline Road

60 16th Street Bethany Home & 16th Street to Camelback Road & 24th Street

19 23rd Avenue Happy Valley Road to Pinnacle Peak Road

39 Shea Blvd Dreamy Draw Park-and-Ride to 40th Street

122 Cactus Road ASU West Campus to 19th Avenue/Dunlap Light Rail

ADDED BUS ROUTES
32 32nd Street Camelback Road to Baseline Road & Priest Drive

140 Ray Road 48th Street to Gilbert Road

EXTENDED SERVICE HOURS
for bus and Dial-a-Ride to MATCH LIGHT RAIL HOURS

DAR

INCREASED FREQUENCY
off-peak to 15 MIN on 5 routes:

19
19th

Avenue

3
Van Buren

Street

50
Camelback

Road

29
Thomas 

Road

41
Indian School 

Road

RAPID service  
frequency increases

Weekdays & weekends 
to 30 MIN
or better

Weekday service levels  
on five holidays reinstated  

(previously on a Sunday schedule)



15

OTHER IMPROVEMENTS COMPLETED

CUMULATIVE PROGRESS Jan. 1, 2016–June 30, 2019

TRIPSPARK 
customer web portal for Dial-a-Ride users

>> <<

SECURITY
increased patrols, Homeland Security 
endorsement to double K-9 security (FY 2018)

COMPUTER AIDED DISPATCH 
completed installation on 99% of buses

SOUTH TRANSIT FACILITY
refurbished

AUDIO ON DIGITAL BUS SIGNS 
COMPLETED

REGIONAL DIAL-A-RIDE  
IMPLEMENTED
eliminating transfers

DAR

WEST TRANSIT FACILITY
contract awarded to operate 11 
regional routes and one circulator for 
6.3 million service miles annually

ALTERNATIVE  
TRANSPORTATION SERVICES 
technology enhancements include: 
ADA Ride, Senior Ride and Senior 
Center Shuttle, Employment 
Transportation and Medical Trip

MILLION RECEIVED
in competitive grant funding to 
purchase buses (3.5 year total)

$9

MILLION RECEIVED
in FTA formula grants for 
Phoenix transit (3.5 year total)

$123

LIQUEFIED NATURAL GAS  
contract saves $2M in fuel costs each 
year 

BUS AND DIAL-A-RIDE PROGRESS TO DATE

NORTH AND SOUTH FACILITIES 
requests for proposal issued

FARE COLLECTION SYSTEM 
request for proposals received and under 
evaluation



16

BUS AND DIAL-A-RIDE
The Phoenix Public Transit Department 
provides residents with a range of transit 
options including local and commuter 
buses and alternative transportation 
services such as Dial-a-Ride for those 
with special needs. Phoenix is the largest 

member of Valley Metro, which is the regional public 
transportation agency that provides coordinated transit 
services to residents of metro Phoenix. Additional transit 
information is available at phoenix.gov/publictransit.

Funding
T2050 funding of $1.2 billion over five-years supported 
improvements such as greater bus frequency, additional 
and extended routes, new vehicles, security and 
technology enhancements, and shaded bus stops. 

In addition to T2050 funds, the plan utilizes federal 
grants, local funds, fare revenues, transit advertising and 
the Regional Public Transportation Fund. Recent awards 
and grants include:

 z Nearly $123 million in Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA) formula (non-competitive) grants allocated for 
Phoenix transit projects (January 1, 2016 through 
June 30, 2018).

 z $9 million in competitive grant funding from the FTA 
Bus and Bus Facilities Infrastructure Investment 
Program for the purchase of new local buses 
(January 1, 2016 through June 30, 2018).

http://phoenix.gov/publictransit


17

Local Fixed Route
With more than 32 million passenger boardings in the 
last fiscal year, local fixed route bus service is at the 
heart of Phoenix’s transit system. Bus service operates 
on a grid and provides a straight-forward, easy-to-
navigate way for riders to connect to home, work, school 
and other key locations throughout the region. Residents 
are now able to use the services nearly 24 hours a day.

Improvements since T2050’s inception include:

 z Extending service hours for both bus and Dial-a-Ride 
to match light rail hours (FY 2016–2017).

 y Friday and Saturday hours extended until 2 a.m. 
and Sunday hours to 11 p.m.

 y Monday-Thursday service hours extended 4 a.m. 
to midnight.

 z Increasing bus frequency to every 30 minutes -- and 
more frequent for weekday routes with high ridership 
(FY 2016–2017).

 z Increase bus frequency to every 15 minutes during 
off-peak hours on Routes 3 (Van Buren Street), 
19 (19th Avenue), 29 (Thomas Road) and 50 
(Camelback Road) (FY 2018).

 z Increasing bus frequency to every 15 minutes during 
off-peak hours on Route 41 (Indian School Road)  
(FY 2019).

 z Reinstating weekday service levels on five days that 
previously operated on a Sunday schedule including 
Veterans Day, the day after Thanksgiving, Christmas 
Eve, Martin Luther King Jr. Day and Presidents Day 
(FY 2019).

Additionally, Phoenix continues to purchase new buses. 
Since 2016, Phoenix has purchased 258 new local 
buses to modernize its fleet of approximately 500 
vehicles. Newer buses mean not only a more enjoyable 
experience to riders, but also a more efficient and 
dependable ride.

Table 2.1 T2050 Bus and Dial-a-Ride Progress
Completed FY 2019 (July 1, 2018–June 30, 2019) 

Fund existing bus, RAPID commuter bus, neighborhood circulator 
and Dial-a-Ride service for 35 years

 y Maintained existing services, which includes 38 Phoenix-
operated local routes, six RAPID routes, four circulators and 
Dial-a-Ride.

 y Maintained bus and Dial-a-Ride service hours to match light rail 
hours.

Improve bus frequency
 y October 2018: Reinstated weekday service levels region-

wide on five holidays that previously operated on a Sunday 
schedule. 

 y October 2018: Route 41 (Indian School) improved to run every 
15 minutes or less between 32nd Street and 59th Avenue, 
Monday through Friday, 6 a.m. to 7 p.m.

 y April 2019: Improvements were made to select RAPID service 
frequency. 

New buses and Dial-a-Ride vehicles
 y Ordered 39 new local buses 

 - 33 are the standard 40-foot buses
 - 6 are the 60-foot articulated buses

 y Ordered 25 new RAPID buses 
 - 14 are the standard 40-foot buses
 - 11 are the 60-foot articulated buses

Incorporate technology
 y Computer-Aided Dispatch Automated Vehicle Location  

(CAD/AVL) 
 - Mini-fleet testing completed on nine city vehicles.
 - Full bus fleet installation initiated, with technology installed 

on 99 percent of buses.
 y Alternative Transportation Programs

 - Allows passengers to schedule flexible transportation to 
meet their travel needs via ADA Ride, Senior Ride and Senior 
Center Shuttle, Employment Transportation and Medical 
Trip. 

 y Fare Collection System Request
 - Proposals received in May 2019 for system improvements 

which will include a mobile application, reloadable 
smartcards, revamped retail network, validators on buses 
and light rail, fare capping and a reduced fare registration ID 
program. 



18

Table 2.1 T2050 Bus and Dial-a-Ride Progress
Completed FY 2019 (July 1, 2018–June 30, 2019) 

Bus bays
 y Utility and conflict resolution for four bus bays.

Bus stops
 y 125 new shelters installed at existing bus stops to provide 

shade. 
Increase security

 y Increased patrols and crime reduction enforcement operations 
focused on public transportation.

Other improvements
 y First Transit awarded contract to operate the 11 local bus routes 

and the MARY circulator originating at Phoenix's West Transit 
Facility. The $296 million contract provides over 500 private 
sector jobs, including bus operators, maintenance technicians, 
road supervisors and dispatchers, and administrative/
management positions. 

 y Both the north and south facilities fixed-route service requests 
for proposals were issued.

RAPID Commuter
RAPID is a Phoenix-operated commuter bus 
service that connects residents in Phoenix’s 
suburban areas with downtown Phoenix. There 

are currently six RAPID routes that provide riders with 
another option for their commute into downtown 
Phoenix. 

Since the inception of T2050, 37 new RAPID buses were 
ordered. Based on customer data and input, in April 
2019, Phoenix made improvements to the RAPID service 
including more trips for certain routes. In 2023, Phoenix 
anticipates adding a new RAPID route to southwest 
Phoenix utilizing the Loop 202 (South Mountain 
Freeway).

Circulator Service
Phoenix has four circulator routes that connect area 
residents with key neighborhood destinations such 
as libraries, grocery stores and community centers. 

The circulators are named to represent their service areas 
and include ALEX (Ahwatukee Local Explorer), DASH 
(Downtown Area Shuttle), MARY (Maryvale Area Ride for 
You) and SMART (Sunnyslope Multi-Access Residential 
Transit).

Staff will conduct a study of Phoenix's current and 
potential circulator routes and make recommendations on 
improvements based on the results.

RAPID

Route 29 (Thomas Road) is one of five new routes offering 
15-minute off-peak frequency.



19

Dial-a-Ride and Alternative 
Transportation Services

Dial-a-Ride (DAR) is a federally required paratransit 
service that complements local transit by providing 
a convenient transportation option for those 

unable to ride the bus or light rail. Under T2050, Phoenix 
expanded DAR service hours and replaced 72 vehicles.

TripSpark, the online reservation tool for Phoenix DAR 
was launched in 2018. Now scheduling a DAR trip is 
even easier as users can schedule their trips by phone or 
online.

Phoenix also continues to provide Alternative 
Transportation Services which include ADA Ride, 
Senior Ride and Senior Center Shuttle, Employment 
Transportation and Medical Trip.

Table 2.2 T2050 Bus and Dial-a-Ride
Planned for FY 2020

Fund existing bus, RAPID commuter bus, neighborhood circulator 
and Dial-a-Ride service for 35 years

 y Continue to provide safe and reliable services.
 y Maintain bus and Dial-a-Ride service hours to match light rail 

hours.
Increase security

 y Reduce violent crime on public transportation, with an emphasis 
on investigating and solving crime.

Bus stops
 y Install new shelters at 80 bus stops to provide shade.

Incorporate technology
 y Release operations control center request for proposals August 

2019.
 y Anticipate Phoenix City Council award of Regional Fare 

Collection System Improvements project contract by December 
2019.

Other improvements

 y Initiate a bus circulator study.

Security
The Phoenix Police Department's Transit 
Enforcement Unit works with municipal security 
guards, a private security contractor and Valley 

Metro’s fare enforcement security at Phoenix’s seven 
transit centers, nine park-and-rides and three operation 
and maintenance facilities. Cameras are installed on 
vehicles and at city-owned and operated facilities to 
assist police and security when needed.

In FY 2018, the Department of Homeland Security 
delivered a positive endorsement to double the K-9 
security detail from three to six teams, and nine 
municipal security guard positions were transferred from 
the Police Transit Unit to the Public Transit Department 
to supplement the private security contract. Over the 
past year, patrols and crime reduction enforcement 
operations increased with the goal of adding 20 transit 
unit police officers over the next five years.

Improvements to alternative transportation services include 
implementing regional Dial-a-Ride service, which eliminates 
transfers.



20

Bus Stops and Shelters
Since 2016, 40 new bus stops were installed 
to provide additional access to new and 
existing bus routes. Shade structures were 

added to 222 existing bus stops. Plans include installing 
additional shade structures at 80 existing bus stops for 
each of the next five years – for an additional 400 new 
shade structures installed by FY 2024.

Table 2.3 T2050 Bus and Dial-a-Ride
Planned for FY 2021–2024

Fund existing bus, RAPID commuter bus, neighborhood circulator 
and Dial-a-Ride service for 35 years

 y Continue to provide safe and reliable services.
 y Maintain bus and Dial-a-Ride service hours to match light rail 

hours.
Improve bus frequency

 y Introduce peak hour service (15 minutes or less) to at least three 
additional routes by FY 2021. 

 y Increase mid-day frequency to at least every 15 minutes on other 
bus routes currently without all day high frequency. 

 y Improve circulator frequency.
Extend and add bus service to unserved major streets

 y Introduce new bus service on 56th Street between Shea 
Boulevard and Deer Valley Road by FY 2021. 

 y Construct the Laveen Park-and-Ride and introduce new RAPID 
service from Laveen to downtown Phoenix.

Increase security
 y Add 20 police officers to the Transit Unit to maximize public 

safety coverage across the public transportation network.
Bus stops

 y Install 56 new bus stops.
 y Install new shelters at an additional 320 bus stops to provide 

riders with shade.
Incorporate technology

 y Implement new Regional Fare Collection System improvements 
by late 2023. The project includes rollout of a new mobile 
application for purchasing transit fares, mobile ticketing and 
implementing a new reloadable smartcard that is account-based 
for the best in customer experience.

Other improvements
 y Assess circulator service and improvement recommendations 

and identify locations for potential new service. 
 y Assess other services, such as partnerships or microtransit.

Workers install a new bus shade structure. More than 200 
were installed in FY 2019.



21

Operations and Maintenance 
Facilities

Phoenix has three bus yards strategically located 
around the city where all bus maintenance, 
fueling and cleaning take place.

In FY 2018, the city awarded a new liquefied natural gas 
contract, saving $2 million annually in fuel costs. 

Additionally, the West Transit Facility fixed route services 
contract was awarded to First Transit, which accounts 
for 6.5 million revenue miles from the 11 local and 
one circulator route operated out of the West Transit 
Facility. The contract provides for more than 500 private 
sector jobs (bus operators, maintenance technicians, 
road supervisors and dispatchers, administrative/
management positions) and serves some of the highest 
ridership routes in Phoenix, routes: 29 – Thomas Road, 
41 – Indian School Road and 17 – McDowell Road.

Other anticipated contracts vital to operating and 
maintaining facilities include those for the Operations 
Control Center – the epicenter of dispatch operations – 
north facilities fixed route service and south facilities 
fixed route service.

Looking forward, a regional fare collection system 
vendor is anticipated to be selected in October 2019. 
Rollout of a new mobile application for purchasing 
transit fares and account-based reloadable smartcards 
are slated for late 2023. 

An 18-month project began in March 2019 to replace 
and maintain trees. More than 200 trees will be pruned, 
removed, replaced or fenced at the base to ensure 
pedestrian-friendly landscaping and accessibility. Trees 
will also be planted in more than 180 empty tree wells.

T2050 improvements include providing bus and Dial-a-
Ride service hours to match light rail hours. Above, a Dial-
a-Ride operator assists a passenger.



22



Glendale

Peoria

Paradise 
Valley

Scottsdale

Tempe
Phoenix

Phoenix

23

NORTHWEST EXTENSION PHASE I
• Service began March 19, 2016

NORTHWEST EXTENSION PHASE II
• Completed 40 percent design and 

geotechnical field investigations
• Surveying to identify underground utilities

NORTHEAST EXTENSION
• Deferred to end of T2050 program by Phoenix 

City Council action in October 2018

50TH STREET STATION 
• Opened April 25, 2019
• 2019 Sustainable Infrastructure Award from 

Arizona State University’s Metis Center

CAPITOL/I-10 WEST EXTENSION
• Evaluating alignment options and conducting 

traffic analysis
• Environmental assessment of environmental 

elements associated with the project
• Options for accelerating Phase II, which extends 

from the vicinity of the state capitol to 79th 
Avenue and I-10, are under consideration

SOUTH CENTRAL EXTENSION
• Accelerated completion by more than 10 years
• $2 million grant awarded for business 

assistance and transit-oriented development 
land use planning services

• Expansion approved for transfer hub in 
downtown Phoenix

• Completed 60 percent design, underground 
utility survey and started engineering phase

• Construction to begin summer of 2019 at  
7th Avenue and 7th Street

WEST PHOENIX TRANSIT CORRIDOR STUDY
• Deferred to end of T2050 program by Phoenix City 

Council action in March 2019

BUS RAPID TRANSIT (BRT) SERVICE 
• Launched program 
• Selected BRT planning and design consultants
• Phoenix City Council recommended approval of 

consultant contracts

CUMULATIVE PROGRESS Jan. 1, 2016–June 30, 2019

HIGH CAPACITY TRANSIT

NW

BRT



24

HIGH CAPACITY TRANSIT
Phoenix currently offers 16.5 miles of 
light rail service – which represents a 
substantial portion of the 28-mile Valley 
Metro Rail light rail system. Light rail 
connects people to the downtown areas 

of Phoenix, Tempe and Mesa, as well as Sky Harbor 
Airport and many other key destinations in between. In 
addition to light rail, Phoenix is investing in bus rapid 
transit (BRT) to provide another option for high-capacity 
transit (HCT) service. 

Funding
The cities of Phoenix, Tempe and Mesa share the 
funding obligations for the ongoing operations and 
maintenance costs of the light rail system, including 
security and fare collection, vehicle and system 
maintenance, and administration of the operation.

Passengers board light rail. Of the 28 miles of light rail 
in the region, 16.5 miles are within Phoenix. 



25

Table 3.1 T2050 High Capacity Transit Progress
Completed FY 2019 (July 1, 2018–June 30, 2019) 

Increase light rail in Phoenix
South Central Extension

 y Completed 60 percent design. 
 y Completed underground utility surveying along the alignment.
 y Granted entry into Engineering Phase from the FTA.
 y Conducted public meetings to gather input on the design, 

station artwork and traction power substations. 
 y FTA approved a Letter of No Prejudice allowing construction to 

begin summer 2019 at 7th Avenue and 7th Street.
Northwest Extension Phase II

 y Completed 40 percent design.
 y FTA staff, consultants and project staff reviewed project cost 

estimates and schedule.
 y Completed the geotechnical field investigations. 
 y Conducted public meetings to gather input on the design, 

station artwork and traction power substations. 
 y Began underground utility surveying along the alignment.

Capitol/I-10 West Extension
 y Began evaluation of alignment options at Washington Street 

between downtown Phoenix and the state capitol. 
 y Began traffic analysis of downtown Phoenix. 
 y Phoenix City Council action to conduct public outreach and 

develop options for accelerating Phase II of this project.
Northeast Extension

 y In October 2018, the Phoenix City Council voted to defer the 
first-year expenditures of the Northeast Extension to the end of 
the T2050 program.

West Phoenix Extension
 y In March 2019, the Phoenix City Council voted to defer the first-

year expenditures of the West Phoenix Extension to the end of 
the T2050 program. 

50th Street Station
 y Opened station and began revenue service April 25, 2019.
 y Awarded a 2019 Sustainable Infrastructure Award from Arizona 

State University’s Metis Center.
Bus Rapid Transit program

 y BRT program management and preliminary services procured. 

Phoenix’s T2050 plan includes more than a $1 billion 
investment planned for FY 2018-2023 for improving the 
city’s HCT network. The plan includes developing BRT, 
and light rail improvements and expansion. In addition 
to revenues generated by the city’s sales tax, T2050’s 
other funding sources include federal grants, the Public 
Transportation Fund, fares, advertising, and other local 
funds.

Mayor Gallego at the opening of the 50th Street 
Station grand opening, April 25th, 2019.



26

Light Rail Service
South Central Extension 

The South Central Extension will connect the 
existing light rail system to South Phoenix, Central-
City-South and Warehouse District communities. 

The project will include a downtown hub near the 
Cityscape development, additional stations, and track 
and art elements.

Valley Metro opened a community office along the 
future corridor in January 2018 to provide residents 
and businesses with a convenient location to meet with 
project team members and learn more about the project. 

FY 2019 accomplishments include completing the 
survey to identify underground utilities; entering the 
engineering phase; conducting public meetings to 
gather input on the design, station artwork, and traction 
power substations; and receiving FTA approval to begin 
construction at 7th Avenue and 7th Street during the 
summer of 2019.

Northwest Extension Phase II 
When completed, the Northwest Extension Phase 
II will extend the line west on Dunlap Avenue from 
19th Avenue, north on 25th Avenue and across I-17 

to end near Metrocenter Mall. 

Early engineering work of the alignment is underway, 
and public meetings continue to be held to gather 
input on the design, station artwork and traction power 
substations.

SC

NW

Capitol/I-10 West Extension
In 2016, the Capitol/I-10 West project was split 
into two phases for design and construction. The 
first phase, downtown to the capitol building, is 

expected to be finished in 2023. The second phase, from 
the capitol building to the 79th Avenue/I-10 Park-and-
Ride in Maryvale, is under consideration for accelerated 
completion. Public outreach will be conducted, and 
options for potential advancement of this phase of the 
project will be developed. 

The project team currently is evaluating alignment 
options at Washington Street between downtown 
Phoenix and the state capitol building and conducting a 
detailed traffic analysis of the downtown Phoenix area. 
Future steps include preparing the federally required 
Environmental Assessment of the project's corridor.

I-10

Passengers travel via light rail. T2050 allows the city 
to continue to provide light rail service.



27

Table 3.2 T2050 High Capacity Transit Progress
Planned for FY 2020

Increase light rail in Phoenix
 y South Central Extension: final design, third party utility relocation 

and rail construction.
 y Northwest Extension Phase II: final design and pre-construction.
 y Capitol/I-10 West: project evaluation and public meetings.

Bus Rapid Transit program
 y Initiate BRT program planning and community engagement and 

education.

A security staff member shows riders how to 
purchase fares at the Central Avenue and Roosevelt 
Street light rail platform.

Northeast Extension
This corridor was anticipated to connect the 
existing light rail system to the Paradise Valley Mall 
area. In October 2018, the Phoenix City Council 

voted to defer the first-year expenditures to the end of 
the T2050 program.  

West Phoenix Transit Corridor Study
Initially scheduled to open in 2026, this extension 
was expected to connect the West/Northwest 
Valley with the existing light rail at 19th Avenue and 

Camelback Road to approximately 43rd Avenue. In 2017, 
the Glendale City Council voted to no longer participate 
in the study. In March 2019, the Phoenix City Council 
voted to defer the first-year expenditures to the end of 
the T2050 program.

NE

WP

50th Street Station
The 50th Street Station opened on April 25, 
2019. The station marks the first transit capital 
improvement project to take place under T2050, 

as well as the first new station to be constructed on the 
existing light rail line.

The station provides access to Ability360, a resource 
facility for the Valley’s disabled community, as well as 
improved access to nearby businesses and transit-
oriented development planned for the area. While all 
light rail stations are ADA accessible with features such 
as level boarding and lowered fare vending machines, 
the 50th Street Station includes an enhanced pedestrian 
detection crosswalk signal, wider platforms and more 
gently sloped entries.

The station also features a permanent tribute to Arizona 
Congressman Ed Pastor. The congressman was known 
for his genuine care for the communities he represented 
and for all Arizonans, and was a lifelong advocate for 
transit. He served as the first chair of the T2050 CTC.

50th



28

Table 3.3 T2050 High Capacity Transit Progress
Planned for FY 2021–2024

Increase light rail in Phoenix
 y South Central Extension: construction. 
 y Northwest Extension Phase II: construction.
 y Capitol/I-10 West: submission request to begin project 

development to FTA.
Bus Rapid Transit program

 y Council approval of a BRT implementation plan.
 y Initiate preliminary engineering of one or more corridors.

Bus Rapid Transit
Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) will offer another high-
capacity transit option for Phoenix. The service 
relies on specialized buses and will utilize limited 

stops, signal prioritization and off-board fare collection 
to provide riders with a quick, reliable transit option in 
high demand travel areas. 

The planning for future BRT is underway. In 2018, 
planning and design consultants were selected. 
Anticipated next steps include evaluation of potential 
corridors and related public outreach and education.

BRT



29



30

CUMULATIVE PROGRESS TO DATE Jan. 1, 2016–June 30, 2019

122 237 
1,078 

ARTERIAL/MAJOR 
COLLECTORS

MINOR COLLECTORS/
LOCAL

Miles  
new 

pavement

Miles 
pavement 
treatments

269

NEW PROJECTS PLANNED137

Pavement 
maintenance 

program  
APPROVED

MILES OF NEW SIDEWALKS27

ILLUMINATED 
STREET SIGNS2,848

REPLACED

NEW
STREET LIGHTS1,456

INSTALLED

LEFT-TURN  
ARROWS123

INSTALLED

INTERSECTIONS260 
PAINTED SIGNAL POLES at

MILES OF NEW  
BICYCLE LANES

141
INSTALLED

ADA RAMPS
10,762

IMPROVED/INSTALLED

STREET MAINTENANCE AND IMPROVEMENTS

COMPLETED STUDIES7



31

AND IMPROVEMENTS
STREET MAINTENANCE AND

The Street Transportation Department 
is dedicated to moving people and 
goods – including pedestrians, bicyclists 
and motorists – in a safe, efficient, 
and convenient manner via the street 

transportation network. 

While paving and maintaining roads is the tangible 
foundation of these services, the department is 
responsible for street signs, traffic signals, street lights, 
bikeways, ADA ramps and sidewalks. Other behind-the-
scenes functions include transportation planning, plan 
review for private development projects, city right-of-way 
landscaping, construction inspection, materials testing 
and technology enhancements such as the geographic 
information system (GIS). Additional information is 
available at phoenix.gov/streets.

Figure 4.1 T2050 Funds for Street Improvement

  

Approximately 

$183M
allocated over  

five years

5%
Technology 

enhancements

15%
Mobility

improvements

50%
Street  

maintenance

30%
 New and 
expanded 

streets

http://www.phoenix.gov/streets


32

Funding
With 14 percent of the revenues generated by the 
Transportation 2050 sales tax dedicated for street 
improvements, more than $2.3 billion is projected for 
street improvements over a 35-year period from 2016 
through 2050. 

The current five-year plan earmarks about $170 
million in T2050 funding for street construction and 
maintenance projects. In October 2018, after extensive 
hearings and public meetings, the Phoenix City Council 
authorized the financing of $200 million to accelerate 
pavement maintenance on arterial and major collector 
streets.

Other sources of department funding include the state-
collected motor fuel tax, city’s general fund, regional/
Maricopa Association of Governments (MAG) funds, 
federal funds and impact fees.

Accelerated Pavement Maintenance 
Program
Five-year pavement plans are approved by the Phoenix 
City Council each year, and about $16 million is allocated 
under T2050 for pavement maintenance per year. 
However, with the addition of $200 million over five years 
for pavement maintenance, funding for FY 2019 through 
FY 2023 is three-and-a-half times the level of typical 
years.

To fast-track paving, the department accelerated the 
five-year pavement plan for completion during the 
current and upcoming year (FY 2019–2020). With the 
projects moved forward, a resulting challenge was to 
determine how best to utilize the remaining three years 
of the paving schedule.

Street transportation staff members embarked on a 
substantial public involvement effort to explain the 
accelerated pavement maintenance program and ask 
residents where pavement needed to be repaired or 
replaced. 

Public involvement highlights:

 z Presented information at 79 public meetings such as 
homeowner associations, block watch organizations, 
local business groups, and neighborhood community 
events. 

 z Offered information to about 11,200 people at these 
events.

 z Developed web page content with fact sheet, project 
links and email address, pavement@phoenix.gov, 
which received about 300 requests for service or 
additional information.

 z Created an interactive street maintenance tool for 
reporting areas with pavement concerns. Residents 
provided input regarding more than 7,200 locations.

 z Generated more than 42,000 views through social 
media platforms to encourage feedback on streets in 
need of maintenance.

In February and March, Street Transportation 
Department staff members attended 
64 events in 59 days. The Midtown Neighborhood 
Association (pictured above) provided staff members 
with the opportunity to present Accelerated Pavement 
Maintenance Program information to about 30 
association members at their meeting.

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.phoenix.gov_streetssite_Pages_Accelerated-2DPavement-2DMaintenance-2DProgram.aspx&d=DwMGaQ&c=TQzoP61-bYDBLzNd0XmHrw&r=c63hRvTbYdpaqDcuZlBw7_BY7uJrKDUxi6oKKIKmwnI&m=kTqQD_wPpcVU00mREMW97BwuCWzY1prJdZa6F4aiKRo&s=RX6fMuosIxIDlLGJFSVs4Pd_S1qmVZnB2lbur37CgJE&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.phoenix.gov_streetssite_Documents_Fact-2520Sheet-2520-28Text-2520Selection-29.pdf-23search-3Daccelerated-2520pavement&d=DwMGaQ&c=TQzoP61-bYDBLzNd0XmHrw&r=c63hRvTbYdpaqDcuZlBw7_BY7uJrKDUxi6oKKIKmwnI&m=kTqQD_wPpcVU00mREMW97BwuCWzY1prJdZa6F4aiKRo&s=9cUwJe2ZBc8u9ZMmlhYtTQUksEsxuCQ6BNz8DeUQw0I&e=
mailto:pavement%40phoenix.gov?subject=


33

Locations suggested by the public were evaluated and 
used to help develop pavement maintenance plans for 
fiscal years 2021 through 2023. Plans were approved by 
the Phoenix City Council in June 2019.

FY 2019 pavement maintenance through the accelerated 
program included:

 z 126 miles of mill and overlay work on arterial and 
local streets.

 z 700 miles of preservation treatments including crack 
seal on arterial and local streets.

 z 2,320 ADA ramps improved or installed.

Table 4.1 T2050 Street Maintenance and Improvements 
Progress

Completed FY 2019 (July 1, 2018–June 30, 2019)
Street projects

 y 74 projects completed.
Street pavement and overlays

 y Oct. 3, 2018, the Phoenix City Council authorized an additional 
$200 million over the next five years for the pavement 
maintenance program. The resulting Accelerated Pavement 
Maintenance Program fast-tracked completion of five years of 
planned projects in the current and upcoming year. 

 y 32.2 miles of new asphalt pavement on major streets.
 y 116.1 miles of other pavement treatments, such as crack and 

fog sealing, on major collector streets.
 y 94.0 miles of local streets were paved.
 y 583.9 miles of other pavement treatments, such as crack and 

fog sealing, on local streets. 
 y Multi-year pavement maintenance program approved through  

FY 2023.
Bicycle lanes

 y Installed 22.5 miles of lanes.
Street lights

 y Installed 595 new street lights. 
Sidewalks

 y Constructed 12 miles of sidewalks.
Mobility studies

 y Completed seven neighborhood pedestrian mobility studies. 
Intersection technology enhancements

 y Replaced 847 street signs at major intersections with 
illuminated signs.

 y Repainted all signal poles at 111 major intersections to extend 
the lifecycle.

 y Installed 42 new left-turn arrows at warranted intersections.

T2050 PAVEMENT MAINTENANCE 
PROGRESS SINCE JULY 1, 2018

COMPLETED THROUGH JUNE 2019:

CITYWIDE TOTALS

126 MILES
OF MILL AND OVERLAY WORK

OF PRESERVATION TREATMENTS
262 MILES

OF CRACK SEAL
438 MILES

ADA RAMPS
2,320



34

Bicycle and Pedestrian Mobility
The T2050 mobility studies strive to 
identify barriers faced by pedestrians 
and bicyclists, and recommend solutions 

that will improve safety, convenience and quality of life. 
The program identifies opportunities for new sidewalk 
construction, bicycle facilities and connections to 
existing transit stops.

To date, 39 locations have been identified for study, 
seven studies are complete, and three will be completed 
in the next year.

T2050 commitments to mobility include the installation 
of 135 miles of new sidewalks and 1,080 miles of new 
bike lanes by 2050. In three-and-a-half years (10 percent 
of the 35-year program) the department installed 27 
miles of new sidewalks (20 percent of the 35-year goal) 
and 141 miles of bike lanes (13 percent of the 35-year 
goal). 

Table 4.2 T2050 Street Maintenance and Improvements
Planned for FY 2020

Street pavement and overlays
 y Pave at least 19 miles on major streets.

Bicycle lanes
 y Install more than 30 miles.

Street lights
 y Install 60 new street lights.

Sidewalks
 y Construct nearly four miles of new sidewalks.

Mobility studies
 y Complete three neighborhood pedestrian and mobility studies 

for major streets. 
Intersection technology enhancements

 y Install 322 illuminated signs at major intersections.
 y Repaint all signal poles at 110 major intersections.
 y Install five left-turn arrows at warranted intersections.

35th Avenue between Buckeye Road and Van Buren 
Street received mill and overlay work, which includes 
removal of the top layer of a street (milling) followed 
by laying new asphalt (overlaying). 

More than 300 bicyclists participated in the Phoenix/
Maricopa County Bike to Work Day on April 17, 2019.



35

Table 4.3 T2050 Street Maintenance and Improvements
Planned for FY 2021–2024

Street pavement and overlays
 y Pave at least 77 miles of new pavement on major streets.

Bicycle lanes
 y Install 123 miles.

Street lights
 y Install 240 new street lights. 

Sidewalks
 y Construct 15 miles of sidewalks. 

Intersection technology enhancements
 y Repaint all signal poles at 440 major intersections.
 y Install five left-turn arrows at warranted intersections in FY 2021.

Intersection and Technology 
Enhancements

T2050 technology investments include 
improvements and maintenance of traffic control 
equipment, repainting traffic signal poles to extend 

their lifecycles, adding left-turn arrows at warranted 
intersections and replacing deteriorated street name 
signs with retroreflective signs that feature LED lighting. 
Other improvements include installing updated signals, 
signage, detection equipment, and traffic management 
and monitoring systems. 

HAWKs (High-Intensity Activated crossWalKs) provide 
enhanced safety for pedestrians crossing busy 
intersections and at mid-block locations. The push-
button signals flash red beacons when activated. This 
year, Phoenix installed its 50th HAWK and 18 more are 
planned to be installed by December 2019.

A maintenance crew member works above McDowell 
Road. As part of technology improvements, signal 
poles at 440 major intersections were repainted to 
protect and lengthen the lifespan of the technology 
housed inside. 

The Grand Canalscape project, which will create a 
nearly 12-mile continuous trail system along the 
Grand Canal from I-17 to the Phoenix/Tempe border, 
is funded by a Transportation Investment Generating 
Economic Recovery (TIGER) grant and is the site of 
Phoenix’s 50th HAWK. 



36

Information Technology and GIS
In 2018, the Streets Transportation Department 
began to capture T2050 assets in the city’s 
geographic information system (GIS), a map-

based system that catalogues location data. The system 
is currently used to document mobility study details and 
in bikeway reporting. These services support a variety 
of resident service requests available at phoenix.gov/
atyourservice including street light outage, missing street 
sign, potholes and other street maintenance.

An interactive Pavement Maintenance Dashboard was 
developed in June 2019. The map depicts near real-time 
information about pavement maintenance projects in the 
five-year pavement maintenance plan and allows users to 
sort projects by type, location and status. 

In FY 2019, major streets received 32.2 miles of new pavement and 
116.1 miles of preservation treatments, and local streets received 94.0 
miles of new pavement and 583.9 miles of preservation treatments. 
Above, paving work at 52nd Street and Evans Drive.

http://phoenix.gov/atyourservice
http://phoenix.gov/atyourservice
https://phoenix.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapSeries/index.html?appid=330600c87dff4a8a8ac1759701d2d730&folderid=95b30070d48947d3a58617aca9fb4dac


37



38

Lifecycle Programming 
Assumptions
As with any long-term plan, preparation of the 
financial model for the T2050 program required many 
assumptions for estimated costs, revenues and timing 
of projects and new services. Key assumptions of the 
T2050 program include: 

 z The implementation of projects and new services is 
projected to occur over the course of the 35-year plan 
as funding allows and service demand dictates. 

 z Capital and operating costs are estimated to grow 
at average inflation rates of three to four percent 
annually over the life of the plan. These inflation 
rates are somewhat higher than the typical annual 
increases the city has experienced in the large transit 
contracts, and provide for more conservative cost 
estimates. 

 z T2050 sales tax revenues are estimated to grow 
at an average annual rate of 4.75 percent, which 
is slightly lower than the 5.1 percent average 
annual growth rate in the Arizona Department of 
Transportation’s most recent forecast prepared in 
September 2018 for the Proposition 400 Maricopa 
County Transportation Excise Tax. 

 z The existing 0.5 percent Proposition 400 regional 
tax, currently in place through December 31, 2025, is 
assumed to be extended for at least 20 years.

 z Federal transit formula funds are assumed to 
continue through the life of the plan, with very 
modest increases over time, and are consistent with 
Maricopa Association of Government’s long-term 
Regional Transportation Plan. 

APPENDIX



39

 z The financial model is consistent with Valley Metro 
assumptions, ranging from zero to 39 percent, 
for the funding level from discretionary federal 
Capital Investment Grants for light rail capital costs. 
Discretionary federal Capital Investment Grants on 
average fund more than 40 percent of total project 
costs for current rail projects across the country. 

 z Transit fares are assumed to continue to be slightly 
lower than the regional fare policy goal of 25 percent 
recovery of direct transit operations costs, reflecting 
current fare recovery rate. 

 z As needed, some capital funding is assumed to be 
provided through financing, with the corresponding 
costs estimated using typical municipal bond 
offerings. Less expensive and more flexible types 
of financing will be explored to minimize financing 
costs. 

 z Other revenues, such as transit advertising and 
interest earnings on fund balance, are forecasted 
using very small growth rates. 

 z An operating reserve equivalent to 15 percent of 
annual public transit operating costs is assumed to 
be maintained throughout the life of the plan.

Phoenix has a comprehensive roadway network 
of nearly 5,000 miles of public streets, including 
arterial, collector, and local streets. Arterials are 
major streets, which are typically the major north/
south and east/west transportation corridors spaced 
one mile apart. Collectors are important mid-level 
transportation corridors, which are generally the 
½-mile streets between the arterial streets. Local 
streets are typically in residential areas and provide 
connectivity to collectors and arterials.



40

Fiscal Year Overall T2050  
(2015 Forecast) Actual Overall Forecasted Public 

Transit (86.2%) Actual Public Transit
Forecasted Street  

Transportation 
(13.8%)

Actual Street  
Transportation

2016 $89,125,000 $98,593,240 $76,826,000 $85,095,392 $12,299,000 $13,497,848

2017 $204,006,000 $203,352,480 $175,853,000 $175,430,201 $28,153,000 $27,922,279

2018 $213,696,000 $215,805,685 $184,206,000 $185,998,894 $29,490,000 $29,806,791

2019 $224,401,000 $239,179,006 $193,434,000 $206,200,341 $30,967,000 $32,978,665

2020 $235,642,000 $203,123,000 $32,519,000

2021 $246,835,000 $212,772,000 $34,063,000

2022 $258,559,000 $222,878,000 $35,681,000

2023 $270,841,000 $233,465,000 $37,376,000

2024 $283,706,000 $244,555,000 $39,151,000

2025 $297,182,000 $256,171,000 $41,011,000

2026 $311,298,000 $268,339,000 $42,959,000

2027 $326,085,000 $281,085,000 $45,000,000

2028 $341,574,000 $294,437,000 $47,137,000

2029 $357,799,000 $308,423,000 $49,377,000

2030 $374,794,000 $323,072,000 $51,722,000

2031 $392,597,000 $338,419,000 $54,178,000

2032 $411,245,000 $354,493,000 $56,752,000

2033 $430,779,000 $371,331,000 $59,448,000

2034 $451,241,000 $388,970,000 $62,271,000

2035 $472,675,000 $407,446,000 $65,229,000

2036 $495,127,000 $426,799,000 $68,328,000

2037 $518,646,000 $447,073,000 $71,573,000

2038 $543,281,000 $468,308,000 $74,973,000

2039 $569,087,000 $490,553,000 $78,534,000

2040 $596,119,000 $513,855,000 $82,264,000

2041 $624,435,000 $538,263,000 $86,172,000

2042 $654,095,000 $563,830,000 $90,265,000

2043 $685,165,000 $590,612,000 $94,553,000

2044 $717,710,000 $618,666,000 $99,044,000

2045 $751,801,000 $648,052,000 $103,749,000

2046 $787,512,000 $678,835,000 $108,677,000

2047 $824,919,000 $711,080,000 $113,839,000

2048 $864,102,000 $744,856,000 $119,246,000

2049 $905,147,000 $780,237,000 $124,910,000

2050 $948,142,000 $817,299,000 $130,844,000

Total $16,679,368,000 $14,377,615,000 $2,301,753,000

The following table includes the projected sales tax revenue for each year of the T2050 plan. Additionally, the table 
shows the anticipated allocation to the Public Transit and Street Transportation departments.
Table A.1 T2050 Sales Tax Projected Revenue Stream



41

 Budget Actuals Amount Over/ 
(Under Budget)

Percent Over/ 
Under Budget Footnotes

Source of Funds
Dedicated Sales Tax - T2050  234,946,000  239,179,000  4,233,000 1.8%
Local Transportation Assistance  4,250,000  4,220,195  (29,805) -0.7%
Bus Fare Revenue  28,939,491  27,492,333  (1,447,158) -5.0%
Dial-a-Ride Fare Revenue  816,527  893,639  77,112 9.4%
Rail Fare Revenue  8,400,000  7,136,294  (1,263,706) -15.0% 1
Federal Transit Funds  93,540,440  55,847,283  (37,693,157) -40.3% 2
Regional Transportation Tax  19,150,109  6,658,446  (12,491,663) -65.2% 3
Other Revenue  12,743,309  19,443,722  6,700,413 52.6% 4
Fund Balance  114,282,844  55,963,361  (58,319,483) -51.0%

 Total Revenues  $517,068,720  $416,834,273  $(100,234,447) -19.4%

Use of Funds
Transit Operations

Local Fixed Route Bus  $127,410,191  $122,344,806  $(5,065,384) -4.0%
RAPID Commuter Bus  3,861,484  3,707,965  (153,519) -4.0%
Neighborhood Circulator  3,236,558  3,107,884  (128,674) -4.0%
Dial-a-Ride Operations  20,986,871  20,767,062  (219,809) -1.0%
Light Rail Operations  35,689,205  35,230,695  (458,510) -1.3%
Bus Rapid Transit  -  -  - 0.0%
Security  12,275,308  11,354,238  (921,070) -7.5%
Administration & Support  22,507,838  21,483,773  (1,024,065) -4.5%

Total Operations  $225,967,455  $217,996,422  $(7,971,033) -3.5%

Debt Service  $67,296,000  $67,288,731  $(7,269) 0.0%

Capital Projects
 Bus and DAR Vehicles  $73,416,180  $43,069,974  $(30,346,206) -41.3% 5
 Bus Passenger Facilities  14,596,692  5,084,920  (9,511,772) -65.2% 6
 Bus O & M Facilities  1,145,000  744,385  (400,615) -35.0% 7
 Bus and DAR Technology  43,023,348  1,105,098  (41,918,250) -97.4% 8
 Other Bus Capital  9,880,000  922,949  (8,957,051) -90.7% 9
 South Central Extension  30,214,983  36,936,338  6,721,355 22.2% 10
 Northwest Light Rail Extension Phase II  20,135,218  9,965,879  (10,169,339) -50.5% 11
 Capitol/I-10 West Phase I Light Rail  136,592  8,430  (128,162) -93.8% 12
 Northeast Light Rail  -  8,251  8,251 0.0%
 48th Street LRT Station  116,042  937,643  821,601 708.0% 13
 Other Light Rail  905,817  87,085  (818,732) -90.4% 14
 Bus Rapid Transit  -  3,460,661  3,460,661 0.0%
 Streets - Major Maintenance  25,791,403  25,653,845  (137,558) -0.5%
 Streets - Major Transportation Projects  306,710  156,187  (150,523) -49.1% 15
 Streets - Mobility Projects  2,389,280  1,989,256  (400,024) -16.7% 16
 Streets - Other  537,000  535,682  (1,318) -0.2%
 Streets - Technology  1,211,000  882,537  (328,463) -27.1% 17

Total Capital Projects  $223,805,265  $131,549,119  $(92,256,146) -41.2%

Total Expenditures  $517,068,720  $416,834,273  $(100,234,447) -19.4%

Table A.2 FY 2019 Financial Overview (July 1, 2018–June 30, 2019)



42

Table A.2, found on the preceding page, includes the budgeted and actual revenue and expenditures during FY 2019. 
Footnotes are as follows:

1. Decrease due to reduced ridership and lower average fare. 

2. Decrease due to delayed federally funded capital projects. 

3. Decrease due to delayed regionally funded capital projects. 

4. Liquefied natural gas (LNG) fuel tax credit refund from prior year delayed to 2018-19, and higher than anticipated interest 
earnings on T2050 fund balance. 

5. Federal funds over programmed in the budget. 

6. Laveen Park-and-Ride delayed, and bus stop improvements funds carried over to 2019-20. 

7. Various building project budgets overprogrammed. 

8. Fare Collection System and CAD/AVL upgrade projects delayed.

9. Unused contingency and delayed bus pullout projects. 

10. South Central Extension funding agreement with Valley Metro not yet fully budgeted. 

11. Northwest Extension Phase II expenditures less than anticipated at this point. 

12. Capitol/I-10 West Phase I progress slower than anticipated. 

13. Testing, land acquisition settlement and streets operations charges were higher than budgeted. 

14. Less activity than anticipated. 

15. Unused capacity for contracted services. Funds were carried 
over to 2019-20.

16. Unused capacity for contracted services. Funds were carried 
over to 2019-20. 

17. Unused capacity for contracted services. Funds were carried 
over to 2019-20.

On the following page, Table A.3 includes the projected 
distribution of funds collected over the next five years. The 
table does not include actual collections. Please note: Bus 
Rapid Transit (BRT) capital and operations expenditures are 
planned to be incurred during this five-year plan, and the 
amounts reflected are preliminary, pending the results of the 
BRT study.

Street signs produced at the city of Phoenix sign 
shop await installation. 



43

FY19–20 FY20–21 FY21–22 FY22–23  FY23–24
Source of Funds

Dedicated Sales Tax-T2050  $249,936,000  $264,729,000  $277,734,000  $289,559,000  $302,027,000 
Local Transportation Assistance  4,300,000  4,300,000  4,300,000  4,300,000  4,300,000 
Bus Fare Revenue  27,787,000  29,140,000  36,061,000  36,908,000  37,704,000 
DAR Fare Revenue  751,340  837,000  1,046,000  1,046,000  1,046,000 
Rail Fare Revenue  7,790,000  7,868,000  9,835,000  9,934,000  11,601,000 
Federal Transit Funds  124,892,000  219,878,000  229,290,000  186,318,000  231,216,000 
Regional Transportation Tax  92,040,000  158,136,000  99,787,000  60,749,000  50,427,000 
Bond Proceeds  105,210,000  174,971,000  124,743,000  129,179,000  50,344,000 
Other Revenue  7,725,794  7,841,681  7,959,306  8,078,696  8,199,876 
Fund Balance  115,741,310  6,519,579  (12,608,306)  (17,058,696)  (74,119,876)

 Total Revenues  $736,173,444  $874,220,260  $778,147,000  $709,013,000  $622,745,000 
Use of Funds

Transit Operations 
Local Fixed Route Bus  $141,708,317  $143,258,000  $147,539,000  $152,009,000  $156,492,000 
RAPID Commuter Bus  3,940,499  5,119,000  5,275,000  5,826,000  6,000,000 
Neighborhood Circulator  4,537,785  7,677,000  7,906,000  8,146,000  10,802,000 
Bus Rapid Transit  -  -  -  2,119,000  2,182,000 
DAR Operations  19,571,000  20,158,000  20,763,000  21,386,000  22,027,000 
Light Rail Operations  39,484,040  40,323,000  41,533,000  42,779,000  48,969,000 
Security  11,819,000  12,174,000  12,539,000  12,915,000  13,302,000 
Administration & Support  22,129,000  22,792,000  23,476,000  24,180,000  24,906,000 

Total Operations  $243,189,642  $251,501,000  $259,031,000  $269,360,000  $284,680,000 
Debt Service  $70,616,000  $5,078,000  $13,524,000  $19,562,000  $25,823,000 

Capital Projects
Bus and DAR Vehicles  $43,901,345  $38,749,000  $55,196,000  $30,482,000  $30,167,000 
Bus Passenger Facilities  13,099,746  5,438,000  3,567,000  3,672,000  3,782,000 
Bus O&M Facilities  1,300,000  1,660,000  1,315,000  15,650,000  15,300,000 
Bus and DAR Technology  71,150,051  340,000  1,090,000  1,040,000  340,000 
Other Bus Capital  11,195,425  1,183,000  1,213,000  1,215,000  1,215,000 
South Central Light Rail Extension  162,321,000  392,355,000  288,529,000  205,894,000  103,181,000 
Northwest Light Rail Extension Phase II  73,165,000  92,654,000  78,084,000  73,775,000  35,346,000 
Capitol/I-10 West Light Rail  -  12,282,000  38,441,000  50,885,000  60,851,000 
Northeast Light Rail  -  -  -  -  - 
50th Street Station  -  -  -  -  - 
Other Light Rail  -  -  -  -  - 
Bus Rapid Transit  10,132,900  30,558,000  14,048,000  12,125,000  41,400,000 
Total Public Transit T2050 Capital Projects  $386,265,467  $575,219,000  $481,483,000  $394,738,000  $291,582,000 
Streets - Major Maintenance  $15,504,000  $16,263,000  $17,053,000  $18,130,000  $19,790,000 
Streets - Major Transportation Projects  16,525,335  16,535,000  1,077,000  1,926,000  - 
Streets - Mobility Projects  2,443,000  8,034,260  4,248,000  2,655,000  - 
Streets - Technology  1,090,000  1,050,000  1,191,000  2,102,000  330,000 
Streets - Other  540,000  540,000  540,000  540,000  540,000 

Total Streets T2051 Capital Projects  $36,102,335  $42,422,260  $24,109,000  $25,353,000  $20,660,000 
Total Capital Projects:  $422,367,802  $617,641,260  $505,592,000  $420,091,000  $312,242,000 

Total Expenditures:  $736,173,444  $874,220,260  $778,147,000  $709,013,000  $622,745,000 
Fund Balance: Public Transit  $20,481,675  $19,851,754  $18,241,768  $20,694,322  $73,794,472 
Fund Balance: Streets  22,693,632  16,803,974  31,022,266  45,628,408  66,648,134 

Total Fund Balance  $43,175,307  $36,655,728  $49,264,034  $66,322,730  $140,442,606 
 $(115,741,310)  $36,655,728  $49,264,034  $66,322,730  $140,442,606 

Table A.3 Five-Year Implementation Plan (FY 2020–2024) 



44



 

 
This report provides information about San Antonio’s Vision Zero program to the 
Citizens Transportation Commission.   
 
THE ISSUE 
At the Commission’s meeting this past May, Street Transportation Department staff 
presented information on the Vision Zero program under previous consideration by the 
City Council.  
 
At the conclusion of the presentation, Commissioner Smith requested information about 
San Antonio’s Vision Zero program. The following is an overview of their program, 
which started in August 2018. Additional information can be found at: 
www.visionzerosa.com. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
This item is for information only. 
 

CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION REPORT 

TO: Members of the Commission   

FROM: 
Kini L.E. Knudson 
Street Transportation Director 

    

SUBJECT: San Antonio’s Vision Zero Program 
 



Our safety goal is to achieve zero fatalities on our roadways.  The responsibility 

for roadway safety is shared between those who design the road and those 

who use the road.  Vision Zero is both an attitude toward life and a strategy for 

designing a safe transportation system.  It establishes that the loss of even one 

life or serious injury on our roads is unacceptable.

Whether your primary way of getting around is driving, biking, taking the bus, 

or walking, everyone is a pedestrian at some point in his or her travels.  Through 

Vision Zero, the community shares the responsibility for ensuring the safety of 

people in our community.  Every person in our community matters, and we can 

achieve Vision Zero together.  

VISION

PURPOSE AND NEED

Together, we can achieve zero fatalities on 
our roadways because every person in our 
community matters.



The increase of pedestrian and bicycle crashes across the nation has been brought to the public’s attention through 
various initiatives, including “Safer People, Safer Streets” by U.S. Transportation Secretary Anthony Foxx. The National 
Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) designated San Antonio as a focus city with higher than the national 
average number of pedestrian deaths.  In 2014, 54 pedestrians and 1 bicyclist were killed on roadways in San Antonio.
The goal to achieve zero fatalities on public roads is an endeavor that all cities must strive for and San Antonio is no 
exception. 

WHY NOW?

ON AVERAGE, AND

IS INVOLVED IN A 
CRASH DAILY. 

IN 2014,

AGES OF 40 AND 64 
YEARS OLD. 

OCCURRED ON
ARTERIAL OR
COLLECTOR
ROADWAYS.

SPEED KILLS
Higher vehicle speeds increase the likelihood of 

a pedestrian fatality when struck by a vehicle.

ODDS OF A PEDESTRIAN FATALITY 
AFTER BEING STRUCK BY A VEHICLE

VEHICLE 
SPEED

2014 CRASH DATA

5%

37-45%

83-85%
Source: Killing Speed and Saving Lives, UK Dept. of Transportation, 
London, England. See also Limpert, Rudolph. Motor Vehicle 
Accident Reconstruction and Cause Analysis. Fourth Edition. 

Charlottesville, VA. The Michie Company, 1994, p. 663.

OCCURRED BETWEEN 7PM & 7AM.

Vehicles

Pedestrians

Bicycles

WHILE WALKING

TOTALS 
83
54
1

13845,208
44,084

799
325

CRASHES FATALITIES



City of San Antonio’s Transportation & Capital Improvements (TCI), along with partner agencies, is committed to 
enhancing safety in San Antonio.

OUR APPROACH - 5 E’S

Encouragement:

We believe that the key to success in achieving Vision Zero is a combined 
approach using the five essential elements for a safe transportation system: 
Education, Encouragement, Engineering, Enforcement and Evaluation.

•  In 2010, San Antonio adopted a “safe passage” ordinance to encourage tolerance and 
acceptance of vulnerable users, such as bicyclists, traveling on roadways.

•  In 2011, San Antonio adopted a Complete Streets Policy that supports pedestrian-
oriented neighborhoods, enhancement of commercial corridors, and maximizes capital 
project investments.

•  The Alamo Area Metropolitan Planning Organization’s (AAMPO) adopted the 
Pedestrian Safety Action Plan in 2012, which defines a set of actions make walking safer.
  
•  In 2015, San Antonio enacted a hands-free ordinance for motorists’ city wide.

•  The 2015 City of San Antonio Pedestrian Study, led by the AAMPO as part of the 
Regional Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan is currently underway.  The study will establish a 

system to determine how to identify pedestrian zones.

GETTING TO ZERO

evaluate traffic safety efforts and 
implement improvements as needed.  

Education:
communicate the importance 

of safety for all on our roadways, 
whether a person is driving, bicycling 

or walking.  

Engineering:
construct improvements to enhance 

safety and accessibility along 
crosswalks, walkways, and bikeways.

encourage all to practice safety and 
follow all traffic laws.

Enforcement:
enforce traffic safety and continue to 
support safety initiatives such as Click 
It or Ticket It, Buzzed Driving is Drunk 

Driving, and Distracted Driving.

Evaluation:



Vision Zero is achievable if we look out for one another and are aware of our surroundings.  Do your part 
by eliminating distractions and follow the rules of the road.  Here are some additional recommendations 
when using various modes of transportation.

WHAT YOU CAN DO AS PART OF VISION ZERO

DRIVING BICYCLING WALKING
SLOW DOWN, DON’T SPEED – BE PREDICTABLE – signal when 

turning and follow all traffic laws.

GO WITH THE FLOW – bike in the 
same direction of traffic.

BE VISIBLE – use lights at all times 
of day and wear reflective or bright 
clothing.

USE CROSSWALKS – cross at 
marked crosswalks and watch for 
turning vehicles.

LOOK OUT – look both ways before 
crossing a street and be aware of 
your surroundings.

BE VISIBLE – make sure drivers see 
you by establishing eye contact and 
wear bright or reflective clothing 
during dark hours.

speed can mean the difference 
between life and death.

ELIMINATE DISTRACTIONS –  
hands on the wheel and eyes on the 
road at all times.

PAUSE BEFORE A TURN – turn 
slowly and look out for people 
walking or bicycling.

GIVE PEOPLE ON BIKES SPACE 
WHEN PASSING – 3 feet is the 
minimum recommended space to 
give a vulnerable road user, such 
as a person on a bike (for larger 
vehicles such as buses and trucks, a 
minimum of 6 feet is recommended); 
if possible, change lanes completely 
to go around a person on a bike.

Look out for others, especially children, elderly, persons 
with disabilities, people walking and biking.

Slow down and look around, especially at intersections 
and driveways.

Practice the rules of the road including yielding to people 
walking.

Be alert  at all times.

Share this Vision Zero pledge with my family and friends.

I PLEDGE TO:

PARTNERS

City of San Antonio

AAMPO

Bexar County

Drive Kind Ride Kind

FHWA

SAFD

SAPD

TxDOT

Union Pacific

VIA



 
 

$767.4 
$794.0 

 $-
 $100.0
 $200.0
 $300.0
 $400.0
 $500.0
 $600.0
 $700.0
 $800.0
 $900.0

Estimate Actual

T2050 Sales Tax Revenues through Aug. 31, 2019

This report provides a financial update on Transportation 2050 (T2050), passed by 
voters on Aug. 25, 2015. Included in this report is a summary of the sales tax revenue 
collections and the use of those revenues for projects within the plan. 

THE ISSUE 
T2050 is a 35-year multimodal transportation plan that includes street improvements, 
bus and paratransit service enhancements, and light rail expansion. These categories 
are broken down into specific plan elements, and within each are specific projects 
planned to be implemented throughout the plan. 

OTHER INFORMATION 
The T2050 sales tax became effective Jan. 1, 2016, and with the one-month lag in sales 
tax reporting and collections, there have been 43 months of revenue collected by the 
City through August 2019. The sales tax revenues are used by the Public Transit and 
Street Transportation department’s to budgets and implement T2050 projects.  

The following graph provides estimated and actual sales tax through Aug. 31, 2019. 
Estimates are based on a consistent annual growth rate. Some months and years will 
see a higher or lower return, but the differences are anticipated to balance over time.  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The attached table (Attachment A) shows T2050 sales tax revenue collections and 
T2050 expenditures through Aug. 31, 2019. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
This report is for information and discussion only. 

CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION REPORT 

     TO: 
 
Chair Mellor and members of the Commission 

  

     FROM: Jesús Sapien 
Public Transit Director 
 
Kini Knudson 
Street Transportation Director 

    

SUBJECT: Transportation 2050 Financial Update 

 

millions 



T2050 SALES TAX REVENUES:
Through FY 2017-19 756,420,404$    
July 2019 - August 2019 37,557,633        

TOTAL 793,978,037      

EXPENDITURES:

Project

FY 2019-20 
Total 

Expenditures

FY 2019-20 
T2050 

Expenditures

FY 2019-20  
Other (1) 

Expenditures
FY 2019-20 Total 

Commit
FY 2019-20 

T2050 Commit

FY 2019-20 
Other (1) 
Commit

FY 2019-20 
Total Actual               

+             Commit

FY 2019-20 
T2050 Actual +         

Commit

FY 2019-20 
Current Year 

Other (1) Actual +               
Commit

Transit Ops and Administration 34,699,042 32,265,400 2,433,642 204,215,843 196,476,105 7,739,738 238,914,885 228,741,505 10,173,380
Bus Purchases 38,669 38,669 0 1,050,460 157,569 892,891 1,089,129 196,238 892,891
DAR Vehicle Purchases 0 0 0 1,282,515 192,377 1,090,138 1,282,515 192,377 1,090,138

50th St./Washington LRT Station 949,067 949,067 0 0 0 0 949,067 949,067 0
16th St. Station Study 717 717 0 0 0 0 717 717 0
Bus Stop Improvements 296,554 296,554 0 148,457 148,457 0 445,011 445,011 0
South Facility Upgrades 1,620 1,620 0 0 0 0 1,620 1,620 0
Bus Pullouts 2,706 2,706 0 0 0 0 2,706 2,706 0
Transit Technology 971,238 0 971,238 60,551 0 60,551 1,031,789 0 1,031,789
South Central LRT 9,557,968 9,444,204 113,764 13,463 13,463 0 9,571,431 9,457,667 113,764
Northeast LRT 4,110 4,110 0 0 0 0 4,110 4,110 0
Capital/I-10 West LRT 1,406 1,406 0 0 0 0 1,406 1,406 0
West Phoenix/Central Glendale LRT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Northwest Extention LRT Phase II 4,413,795 4,413,795 0 15,205,954 15,205,954 0 19,619,749 19,619,749 0
McDowell & Central LRT Crosswalk 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Bus Rapid Transit 32,211 32,211 0 0 0 0 32,211 32,211 0
Other Transit Capital 762,945 760,356 2,589 0 0 0 762,945 760,356 2,589
Project/Construction Mgmt 308,753 308,753 0 522,460 522,460 0 831,214 831,214 0
T2050 Cement Repair 402,766 402,766 0 3,898 3,898 0 406,664 406,664 0
T2050 Crack Seal 235,369 235,369 0 0 0 0 235,369 235,369 0
T2050 Major Street Overlay 2,575,581 2,575,581 0 6,365 6,365 0 2,581,946 2,581,946 0
T2050 Arterial TRMSS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
T2050 Arterial Micro Surfacing 2,900 2,900 0 1,739 1,739 0 4,639 4,639 0
T2050 Arterial Microseal 755,769 755,769 0 6,414 6,414 0 762,183 762,183 0
Major Streets Project Assessments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Major Street Transportation Projects 230,425 230,425 0 43,836 43,836 0 274,262 274,262 0
Traffic Signal Pole Painting 223,892 223,892 0 0 0 0 223,892 223,892 0
Left Turn Arrows 4,098 4,098 0 0 0 0 4,098 4,098 0
Illuminated Street Name Signs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Pedestrian and Bicycle 351,608 351,608 0 86,543 86,543 0 438,152 438,152 0

TOTAL 56,823,209 53,301,977 3,521,232 222,648,499 212,865,181 9,783,318 279,471,708 266,167,157 13,304,550

(1) Other (non-T2050) sources include transit fares, federal, regional, AZ Lottery, and 302 building revenues.

Attachment A



CITIZENS TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION REPORT 

TO: Mario Paniagua 
Deputy City Manager 

FROM: Jesús Sapien 
Public Transit Director 

Kini Knudson, P.E. 
Street Transportation Director 

SUBJECT: Upcoming T2050 Public Meetings/Events 

This report provides the Citizens Transportation Commission (CTC) with a list of 
upcoming T2050 related public meetings by the Public Transit and Street Transportation 
departments, and Valley Metro.   

This item is for information only.  

Upcoming T2050 Related Public Meetings/Events 

PUBLIC TRANSIT 

None at this time

STREET TRANSPORTATION 

None at this time 


	1_Agenda
	3_CTC May 2019 Minutes AGENDA DRAFT
	5_SCLRT
	5_SCLRTPresentation
	South Central/Downtown Hub Funding, Design and Construction Agreement
	High-Capacity Transit System
	Slide Number 3
	Project Terminus
	Background
	Project Schedule
	Purpose
	Recommendation

	6_NWII
	6_Presentation
	Northwest Phase II Funding, Design and Construction Agreement
	High-Capacity Transit System
	Slide Number 3
	Project Terminus
	Background
	Project Schedule
	Purpose
	Recommendation

	7_LRTProperty
	7_Presentation
	Slide Number 1
	acquisition OF REAL PROPERTY �SOUTH CENTRAL extension / Downtown Hub and Northwest PHase II Light rail extension
	UNIFORM RELOCATION ASSISTANCE and �REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITION POLICIES ACT OF 1970 as amended (Uniform Act)
	UNIFORM RELOCATION ASSISTANCE and �REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITION POLICIES ACT OF 1970 as amended (Uniform Act)
	TYPES OF ACQUISITION
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Recommendation

	8_Jaywalking FINAL
	8A Jaywalking
	10_T2050 Annual Report
	10_T2050 FY19 Annual Report
	bus local fixed route text
	Appendix Table1
	Pg8
	Pg16
	pg20
	New1.0
	New2.0
	New3.0
	New4.0
	New5.0
	1.0 text
	2.0 text
	3.0 text
	4.0 text
	5.0 text
	Pg18
	Pg33

	11_SAVP
	11A_SAVP
	12_Finance Sept
	12A_Finance Attachment A
	Sheet1

	13_Upcoming Meetings Draft

	Button 5: 
	Next Page 9: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 

	Previous Page 10: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 

	TOC Scope 3: 
	TOC Scope 4: 
	TOC Scope 5: 
	TOC Scope 6: 
	TOC Scope 8: 
	Button 161: 
	3: 
	0 HCT: 
	0 HCT 2: 
	0 HCT 3: 
	0 HCT 4: 
	0 HCT 5: 

	5: 
	0 Appendix: 
	0 Appendix 2: 
	0 Appendix 3: 
	0 Appendix 4: 
	0 Appendix 6: 

	Previous Page 25: 
	4: 
	0 Streets: 
	0 Streets 2: 
	0 Streets 3: 
	0 Streets 4: 
	0 Streets 5: 

	2: 
	0 Bus & DAR: 
	0 Bus and DAR 2: 
	0 Bus and DAR 3: 
	0 Bus and DAR 4: 
	0 Bus and DAR 5: 

	1: 
	0 Overview: 
	0 Overview 2: 
	0 Overview 3: 
	0 Overview 4: 
	0 Overview 5: 

	Next Page 10: 
	Next Page 4: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 

	Previous Page 4: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 

	New5: 
	2: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 

	3: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 

	4: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 

	5: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 

	6: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 


	New4: 
	2: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 

	3: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 

	4: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 

	5: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 

	6: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 


	New3: 
	2: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 

	3: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 

	4: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 

	5: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 

	6: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 


	New2: 
	2: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 

	3: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 

	4: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 

	5: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 

	6: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 


	New1: 
	2: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 

	3: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 

	4: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 

	5: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 

	6: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 


	Transit Infrastructure 9: 
	Major Streets 9: 
	Technology Enhancements 9: 
	Mobility & Accessibility 9: 
	High Capacity Transit 9: 
	Pavement Maintenance 9: 
	Bus Program 9: 
	DAR Program 9: 
	F 1: 
	1 Sources of Funds 4: 
	2 Planned Uses of Funds 4: 

	Show F 1: 
	1: 
	3: 
	2: 

	F1: 
	3 Sales Tax Rev Summary 3: 

	Previous Page 23: 
	Next Page 11: 
	Next Page 5: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 

	Previous Page 5: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 

	Button 224: 
	Button 225: 
	Button 226: 
	Button 228: 
	Button 230: 
	Button 231: 
	Previous Page 24: 
	Next Page 12: 
	Next Page 6: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 

	Previous Page 6: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 

	1-S Central Corridor-box-02: 
	2a-NW Phase I-box_02a 2: 
	2b-NW Phase II-box-02b 2: 
	3-Capitol/I-10-box-04: 
	4-NE Corridor-box-05: 
	5-50th Street Station-box-06: 
	6-W Phoenix Extension-box-07: 
	1-S Central Corridor-map 2: 
	2a-NW Phase I-map 2: 
	2b-NW Phase II-map 2: 
	3-Capitol/I-10-map 2: 
	4-NE Corridor-map 2: 
	5-50th Street Station-map 2: 
	6-W Phoenix Extension-map 2: 
	1-S Central Corridor-icon 2: 
	2a-NW Phase I Extension-icon 2: 
	2b-NW Phase II-icon 2: 
	3-Capitol/I-10-icon 2: 
	4-NE Corridor-icon 2: 
	5-50th Street Station-icon 2: 
	6-W Phoenix Extenstion-icon 2: 
	Previous Page 26: 
	Next Page 13: 
	Next Page 7: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 

	Previous Page 7: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 

	Button 253: 
	Previous Page 27: 
	Next Page 14: 
	Next Page 2: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 

	Previous Page 2: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 

	Previous Page 11: 


